OECD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE Working Paper No. 258

THE USUAL SUSPECTS: A PRIMER ON INVESTMENT BANKS' RECOMMENDATIONS AND EMERGING MARKETS

by

Sebastián Nieto Parra and Javier Santiso

Research area: Latin American Economic Outlook



DEVELOPMENT CENTRE WORKING PAPERS

This series of working papers is intended to disseminate the Development Centre's research findings rapidly among specialists in the field concerned. These papers are generally available in the original English or French, with a summary in the other language.

Comments on this paper would be welcome and should be sent to the OECD Development Centre, 2, rue André Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France; or to <u>dev.contact@oecd.org</u>. Documents may be downloaded from: <u>http://www.oecd.org/dev/wp</u> or obtained via e-mail (dev.contact@oecd.org).



THE OPINIONS EXPRESSED AND ARGUMENTS EMPLOYED IN THIS DOCUMENT ARE THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE AUTHORS AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THOSE OF THE OECD OR OF THE GOVERNMENTS OF ITS MEMBER COUNTRIES

CENTRE DE DÉVELOPPEMENT DOCUMENTS DE TRAVAIL

Cette série de documents de travail a pour but de diffuser rapidement auprès des spécialistes dans les domaines concernés les résultats des travaux de recherche du Centre de développement. Ces documents ne sont disponibles que dans leur langue originale, anglais ou français ; un résumé du document est rédigé dans l'autre langue.

Tout commentaire relatif à ce document peut être adressé au Centre de développement de l'OCDE, 2, rue André Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France; ou à <u>dev.contact@oecd.org</u>. Les documents peuvent être téléchargés à partir de: <u>http://www.oecd.org/dev/wp</u> ou obtenus via le mél (dev.contact@oecd.org).



LES IDÉES EXPRIMÉES ET LES ARGUMENTS AVANCÉS DANS CE DOCUMENT SONT CEUX DES AUTEURS ET NE REFLÈTENT PAS NÉCESSAIREMENT CEUX DE L'OCDE OU DES GOUVERNEMENTS DE SES PAYS MEMBRES

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: Head of Publications Service, OECD 2, rue André-Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France

© OECD 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | |
|---|---|
| PREFACE | 5 |
| RÉSUMÉ | 6 |
| ABSTRACT | 7 |
| I. INTRODUCTION | |
| II. OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | |
| III. DESCRIPTION OF THE DATA | |
| IV. INVESTMENT BANKS' BUSINESS AND RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS | |
| V. EMERGING MARKETS' CAPITAL FLOWS AND INVESTMENT BANKS' RECOMMENDATIONS | |
| VI. CONCLUSIONS | |
| ANNEX 1. DESCRIPTION OF THE INVESTMENT BANKS' PUBLICATIONS | |
| ANNEX 2. CITIGROUP RECOMMENDATIONS. MARCH 22, 2006 | |
| ANNEX 3. TABLE A1 | |
| ANNEX 4. TABLE A2 | |
| ANNEX 5. TABLE B1 | |
| ANNEX 6. TABLE B2 | |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY | |
| OTHER TITLES IN THE SERIES/ ALTRES TITRES DANS LA SÉRIE | |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This Working Paper is part of a new programme developed by the Development Centre on Latin American economies that will culminate with a new flagship: the OECD Latin American Economic Outlook.

This paper was presented and discussed at the 11th LACEA (Latin American and Caribbean Economic Association) annual meeting that was held in ITAM (Instituto Tecnológico Autónomo de México) on 2-4 November 2006. It will also be presented at the international conference "Opening and innovation in financial emerging markets", Beijing, 27-28 March 2007, co-organised by the CEPII, CEFI and Natixis, and at the International Seminar of the Banque de France in June 2007.

We would like to thank for the comments, data, help and reports provided Alberto Baltanás, José Barrionuevo, Mike Buchanan, Antonio Cortina, Arnab Das, Juan Flores, Colm Foy, Monica Fuentes, Michael Gavin, Piero Ghezzi, Lawrence Goodman, Shahzad Hasan, Juana Lamote de Grignon, Juan Martinez, Walter Molano, Elizabeth Nash, Gray Newman, Eduardo Pedreira, Richard Portes, and Nilson Teixeira.

The paper also benefited from inputs provided by two reviewers, namely Marc Flandreau and Helmut Reisen. All the errors are obviously those of the authors and their sole responsibility.

The Development Centre would like to express its gratitude to the Spanish Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Finance, without whose support this project would not have been brought to fruition.

PREFACE

Cross-border capital flows have expanded considerably in recent years replenishing the pool of financial resources available to developing countries and emerging economies.

Following a series of capital-market crises since the mid-1990s (Mexico 1994-95, S. East Asia 1997, Russia 1998 and Argentina 2001), researchers and policy makers have sought to analyse the macro-determinants behind such flows and to understand better their sudden stops and reversals.

This paper makes an important contribution to this literature by analysing the impact of investment banks' recommendations on portfolio flows in Latin America during the last ten years.

Having constructed a unique database, based on sovereign debt outlooks by 10 major Wall Street and City investment banks, the authors find that not only there exists a positive correlation between bond underwriters' recommendations and their business position at the announcement date of an issue but that these recommendations have a significant impact on actual capital movements.

The dominant position of investment banks in Latin American capital markets calls for increased transparency of disclosure by investment banks on the sovereign bond issues underwritten.

It also calls for increased competition of investment banking operations in emerging markets including expanded country coverage which today is limited to only 35 states.

Finally, it probably requires a stricter regulatory framework for investment bank operations to ensure that investment recommendations properly reflect market fundamentals and rank investment opportunities in emerging economies.

Prof. Louka T. Katseli Director OECD Development Centre January 2007

RÉSUMÉ

L'article pose deux questions clés : est-ce que les recommandations des banques d'investissement ont un impact sur l'allocation de portefeuille dans les économies émergentes ? Avant tout, est-ce que ces recommandations sont liées aux activités de ces banques ? Dans le but de répondre à ces questions, nous avons élaboré une base de données riche et unique qui couvre les recommandations réalisées par les banques d'investissement sur les obligations souveraines des pays émergents pendant la période 1997-2006. Les plus importants résultats sont : 90 pour cent des underwriters recommandent aux investisseurs l'achat ou le maintien des titres émis par les pays où ils ont été les *lead managers*. De plus, ces recommandations sont corrélées avec la taille relative du marché secondaire de chaque pays. En fait, il existe un phénomène que nous nommons « très grand pour sous pondérer » dans le sens où les banques d'investissement n'envoient pas de signaux négatifs aux pays, qu'en raison de sa taille, ils exercent une importante activité. Finalement, suite à une exploitation des données de panel, nous constatons que l'impact des recommandations des banques sur les flux des capitaux est plus significatif et prévisible que quelques variables macroéconomiques telles que le taux d'intérêt, la croissance économique et le taux d'inflation. Les implications de ces résultats en termes de politique sont considérables. D'abord, il serait nécessaire d'obtenir un détail plus important des recommandations de ces institutions dans le but de déterminer si elles sont liées à des variables économiques et/ou financières ou au contraire si elles sont associées à leurs activités dans ces économies émergentes. Ensuite, les gouvernements devraient réaliser un suivi stratégique de ce que le marché commente concernant les vulnérabilités du pays. Finalement, puisqu'il existe une relation entre recommandation des banques et flux des capitaux, une coopération internationale devrait être établie pour encourager les banques d'investissements à accroître la couverture de ces pays.

ABSTRACT

The paper addresses two core questions: do investment banks' recommendations have an impact on the allocation of portfolio flows in the emerging-markets asset class? Above all, are these recommendations related to the business of investment banks? In order to answer these questions, we constructed a unique database covering the period 1997-2006 for all the bond recommendations made by the major investment banks that dominate the emerging bond markets. The most important findings are as follows: 90 per cent of the underwriters recommend buying or maintaining in their portfolios the bonds issued by the countries where they are acting as lead managers; and investment banks' recommendations are also correlated with the relative size of the secondary bond market. In fact, there is a phenomenon that we call "too big to underweight" meaning that investment banks do not send negative signals to investors of countries that, given their size, are considered important for their business. Finally, by using panel data analysis, we found that the impact of investment banks' recommendations on portfolio capital flows is more significant and more predictable than some macroeconomic variables such as interest rate, economic growth and inflation rate. The first of the three major policy lessons at stake is that there is a need for more detailed information disclosure by investment banks in order to determine if past recommendations are related to macroeconomic variables and financial variables or whether they are associated with the investment banks' business in emerging economies. Second, government agencies should do a strategic monitoring on what market is writing about their respective country vulnerabilities. Finally, given that banks' recommendations and portfolio flows are related, an international co-operation scheme could be established to encourage investment banks to cover more countries.

Keywords: Emerging Markets, Information, Investment Banks Research, Portfolio Flows, Primary Bond Market.

JEL Number: F32, G11, G14, G24.

I. INTRODUCTION¹

Since the beginning of the 21st century, emerging markets have reached a kind of nirvana. The global search for higher returns led to record inflows of liquidity into dedicated emerging markets' bond and equity funds, especially in 2005 and 2006.

In 2005, emerging market equity funds absorbed more than \$20 billion on net inflows, five times more than the previous year and beating the record of 2003, according to data from *Emerging Portfolio Fund Research*, a US company that tracks fund flows around the world. Emerging bond markets also soared, breaking the previous record of inflows as more than \$10 billion flew to these funds in 2005 against a meagre \$3 billion in 2004. The year 2006 saw an even more impressive turn of events: in January, global net inflows into emerging markets equities topped more than \$11 billion, more than half of last year's total in a single month. In the first quarter alone of 2006, inflows exceeded those received during the whole of 2005. All in all, including all kinds of portfolio investors, foreigners ventured an impressive net \$61.4 billion in emerging equities over 2005.

The search for yield explains much of this story. Historically low interest rates in developed countries and soaring global liquidity, combined with structural macroeconomic improvements in the emerging markets universe (the asset class), led to an impressive search for yield that benefited emerging markets. This environment has been particularly favourable for investment banks with huge amounts of money pouring into the asset class, fees burgeoning and massive deals in the pipeline. The multilateral officials were probably the only unhappy people in the crowd, fearing that their institutions could be relegated to the trash heap of history. In Wall Street and the City, while yield-hungry buyers were casting the net wider in the hunt for returns, analysts and investment bankers were opening champagne.

This recent emerging market boom is not unique. During the late 19th century, Latin American countries, for example, experienced a massive foreign investment boom. A major part of the inflows took the form of sovereign debt, the bonds being traded in European financial centres. At that time, the market value of emerging market debt traded in London was impressive: at the turn of the 20th century, its value was equivalent to 12 per cent of world GDP².

Sebastián Nieto Parra is PhD Candidate at the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris (Sciences Po Paris), Chaire Finances Internationales ; Javier Santiso is Chief Economist and Deputy Director of the OECD Development Centre. Previously he was Chief Economist for Latin America and Emerging Markets at BBVA (Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria).

^{2.} One century later, in 1999, the total volume of emerging debt market traded was, however, a meagre 2.7 per cent of world GDP. The recent allure of emerging markets has seen debt trading value jump to

Therefore, even if in nominal terms we are witnessing an explosion of bond flows towards emerging markets, this pales in comparison to the previous globalisation era, in relation to the size of the world's economies. Not only was the previous era of global finance much more open in terms of total capital flows but emerging markets were also very present within London asset managers and bank portfolios, the major dealers of the time³. According to estimates from Mauro, Sussman and Yafeh (2002), by 1905, the market value of emerging markets bonds traded in London reached 25 per cent of all government bonds traded in the City! By comparison, in recent years, US institutional investors have had barely 10 per cent of their portfolios invested in foreign securities, with a meagre fraction of that capital devoted to emerging markets.

The lack of knowledge of investors regarding developing countries was also impressive at that time⁴. Gregor McGregor, a Scottish trader and adventurer, "invented" a country, Poyais, and subsequently paper traded on that country in London during the 1820s. Poyais was a fictitious state that nevertheless borrowed on the London market in 1822. When investors discovered the fraud one year later and ceased to trade the worthless papers it ended in one of the first big series of Latin defaults. By the mid-19th Century, Poyais managed to borrow on the same terms as legitimate states such as Chile, Colombia or Peru (on 19th century emerging markets see in particular Tomz, 2001; Flandreau *et al.*, 2003; Flandreau and Zumer, 2004; Flores, 2006).

Today a repeat of this story is impossible: the levels of information are higher and the density and complexity of players greater. However, in some circumstances, information provided by banks to investors could be biased, depending on their own objectives that may sometimes differ from those of investors⁵. More precisely, banks are confronted with a trade-off concerning recommendations. Indeed, while sell side⁶ or brokerage activity could have the incentive in the long term to build reputation by giving accurate and robust information in order to capture and/or maintain clients, in the short term, sell side recommendations could be biased

\$5 500 billion in 2005 (roughly 12 per cent of world GDP), which is simply restoring the position already reached 100 years ago.

- 3. The largest bondholder of long-term cross-border investments at the turn of the 20th century was the United Kingdom, accounting for nearly half of all cross-border investments in the early 20th century. At the time, about 30 per cent of its investments were in government debt, 40 per cent in railways, 10 per cent in mining, and 5 per cent in utilities.
- 4. In both periods of finance globalisation, news about wars or episodes of politically-motivated violence have been significant and robust determinants of spreads. One difference is that in the first era, country-specific fundamentals account for a greater share of variation in spreads than they do today (Mauro, Sussman, and Yafeh, 2006). Another is that information asymmetries tend to be lower today than in the previous era, as also reflected by risk premiums.
- 5. See Laffont and Martimort (2002) for a good description and review of the literature concerning principal (here the investor) and agent (here the bank) problems.
- 6. The sell side is the retail brokers and research departments that sell securities, make recommendations for brokerage firms' customers and are paid through commissions charged on the sales price of the security. By contrast, the buy side is the part of the financial markets (such as mutual funds, pension funds and insurance firms) that purchase and sell securities for money management purposes.

in order to obtain temporary benefits. Additionally, investment banking activities could be motivated to recommend the purchase the assets of which banks are participating as underwriters⁷ in an IPO.

Many of the studies underlining that bias concern mostly developed economies and equity markets and focus on the autonomy of financial research. However the empirical evidence on emerging markets is fairly scarce. If some studies have been conducted on emerging-equity analysts, hardly any exist on emerging bond markets. Our study provides a first attempt to fill this gap. It addresses two core questions: are broker recommendations useful in emerging markets? In other terms, do buy or sell recommendations have an impact on the allocation of flows in the asset class? Above all, are investment banks' recommendations related to their business?

The remainder of this article is organised as follows. In Section II, we provide a review of the literature. In Section III, we describe the datasets we used, including a unique and untapped dataset of all brokers' recommendations for Latin American emerging markets. In the fourth section, we study the relationship between investment banks' recommendations and some aspects related to the business of these banks (in particular sell-side business). This section gives some preliminary results in order to understand whether banks' advice to investors is biased. For that, we analysed first of all underwriters' recommendations and secondly the relationship between the size of emerging markets and outlooks. Section V analyses the impact of broker recommendations on private capital flows towards emerging markets, matching the aforementioned database with another one on private portfolio flows. Lastly in the sixth section we conclude by giving the most important results of this paper and we raise issues for future research through the use of the newly constructed database.

^{7.} In this paper we do not differentiate between underwriter and lead manager and we assume that both agents have the responsibility with respect to the issue during an IPO.

II. OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

One of the most important factors affecting the efficiency of capital markets is the information transmitted between economic agents. In this overview of the literature we concentrate on the recommendations given by research analysts to investors concerning the financial and economic situation of the issuer. As noted below, research literature and policy issues have mainly examined the functioning of capital markets in OECD countries.

A major concern during the 1990s was analysts' influence and independence. Analysts belong to institutions, for example investment banks, that are not homogeneous entities. Within each institution, each division and each department pursues certain goals and strategies that are linked with the firm, but that may conflict with one another. Investment banks have at least three identified sources of income that are basically brokerage services; (i) corporate finance activities, issuance of securities; (ii) merger and acquisitions advisory services; and (iii) proprietary trading. These three sources of income may create conflicts of interest within the firm, between departments and divisions, but also outside the firm with its potential or current clients. A frequent and observable conflict of interest occurs between investment banking and brokerage activities. The corporate division of a bank is responsible for the issuance of an initial public offering (IPO) or a merger and acquisition for a client. The brokerage house of the firm, through its equity and fixed income department, is responsible for covering the security with a clear objective of delivering timely, unbiased and high quality information to clients that are investors. The objectives of the corporate division can clash with those of the equity and fixed income research department.

In this case, analysts will do their best to deliver the most valuable and independent opinion. For this they use a narrow range of terms to qualify their recommendations (strong buy, buy, hold, sell and strong sell). Moreover, these recommendations could be based on a benchmark index (overweight or over-perform, neutral and underweight or under-perform).

However, one of the paradoxes underlined by the US Securities Exchange Commission in 2001, is that these analyses are rarely "sell" recommendations: in the year 2000, less than 1 per cent of all Wall Street brokerage house analysts' recommendations were "sell" or "strong sell" recommendations. In fact, all analysts at investment banks tread a thin line and are caught in potential conflicts of interest. On the one hand, investors, their major clients, want brokers to give honest opinions and be successful over time. On the other hand, an analyst's objectivity and

independence can be threatened by several potential conflicts of interest, most of them stemming from the blurring of the lines between research and investment banking⁸.

Several factors can shape the investment recommendation as stressed by the US Securities Exchange Commission (SEC): the analyst's firm may be underwriting the offering of a company covered by the analysts; client companies will prefer positive research reports, therefore negative ones could damage the investment firm's efforts to build long term and lucrative client relationships with a corporate or a sovereign; analyst compensation and bonuses can be linked to the number of deals done; and last but not least, the broker, the analyst or any other employee in the firm may own interests in the company covered. A 2001 US SEC Staff analysis of nine Wall Street firms found the following: seven of them reported that "investment banking had input into analysts' bonuses and the analyst hiring process"; although there is no formal supervision of analysts by investment banking "it is well understood by all these analysts that they are not permitted to issue negative opinions about investment banking clients"; in a total of 308 out of 317 IPOs examined, the firm that underwrote the security also provided research coverage; and finally "about one quarter of the analysts inspected own securities in companies they cover". The interest of US regulators in analysts' conflicts of interests prompted the industries associations to provide answers⁹.

The Securities Industry Association, for example, issued a "best practices for research" in 2001 in order to consolidate the "integrity of research" recommending that research should not report to investment banking and that analysts should not be directly linked to specific investment banking transactions¹⁰. At the same time, firms started reviewing their internal procedures to manage conflicts in a response to increasing pressure from former clients. Several of them, including Credit Suisse First Boston and Merrill Lynch, began to adopt policies prohibiting analysts to own securities in companies they covered¹¹.

Analysts do not only face conflicts of interest. Most worrying is their obligation to predict outcomes. Here the paradox is that, in spite of academic studies pointing to lack of efficiency, research departments of brokerage houses continue to spend large amounts of money on research analysis. Such research departments, however, are not naive. The financial industry experienced a dramatic change during the 1990s with the boom of the investment banking business and analysts became increasingly focused on attracting clients rather than on writing

10. See Securities Industry Association (2001).

^{8.} As underlined by Unger (2001), acting chair of the US Securities & Exchange Commission, "The blurring can be seen in a number of ways. First an analyst's salary and bonus may be linked to the profitability of the firm's investment banking business, motivating analysts to attract and retain investment banking clients for the firm. Second, at some firms, analysts are accountable to investment banking for their ratings. Third, analysts sometimes own a piece of the company they analyse, mostly through pre-IPO share acquisitions".

^{9.} See Boni and Womack (2002) for a description and discussion of the measures introduced by the NYSE and Nasdaq.

^{11.} See "Credit Suisse limits holdings of its analysts", *Wall Street Journal*, July 25 2001, at C14; "Merrill alters a policy on analysts", *Wall Street Journal*, July 11 2001, at C2.

independent reports. This is partly borne out by the fact that "sell" or "strong sell" recommendations almost disappeared. However, some academic research is helpful to nuance this perception.

Two recent academic studies underlined that, in the period 1986-1996¹², sell-side recommendations had no significant market value. The same also applied for the period 1996-2000. In fact, according to a study based on First Call data recording 160,000 real-time recommendations made by 299 brokerage houses¹³, most highly rated stocks outperformed the less favourable ones during all of the period 1996-2000 and this in every year but one: in 2000, the trends were very different and the reverse is true. During this period, analysts became increasingly positive with the percentage of "buy/strong buy" recommendations jumping from 65 per cent to more than 70 per cent over the period analysed. Above all, this research underlines singular behaviour for 2000, reversing that which prevailed during the previous years. The most highly recommended stocks in 2000 returned 31.2 per cent less than the market, on average, while the least favourably recommended stocks gained almost 49 per cent more than the market. This data also confirms the very few "sell/strong sell recommendations" found by previous studies: the percentage of negative recommendations on stock fell from 3.4 per cent in 1996 to a mere 1.8 per cent in 2000, meaning that nearly no negative opinion is being issued by analysts.

Another line of research has been trying to foresee if analyst recommendations tend to have an impact on capital markets. Here again, the bulk of the research has been heavily concentrated in developed countries and once again, there has been little, if any analysis conducted on emerging markets. Some papers focused on trading activities on security analyst recommendations, finding that both large and small traders tend to react to these recommendations (Mikhail, Walther, and Willis, 2005). Prior works have also documented that market reaction to upgrades is less pronounced than the market reaction to downgrades by analysts (see Asquith, Mikhail, and Au, 2005; Hirst, Koonce, and Simko, 1995; Jegadeesh, Kim, Krische, and Lee, 2004; Womack, 1996). All of this research has been focused on developed countries.

Not all analysts and brokerage houses are equals. Investment banks and securities houses differ in their strategies, structures and performances. Individual analysts also differ according to their "performance", some being more appreciated than others for their recommendations. In general, buy recommendations of the largest brokerage houses tend to outperform those of the smallest by about 3 per cent annually on a market-adjusted basis¹⁴. Because of their closer ties with corporate management or sovereign officials, their greater resources to support research

^{12.} See Barber, Lehavy, McNichols and Trueman (2001*a*).

^{13.} See Barber, Lehavy, McNichols and Trueman (2001*b*).

^{14.} See Barber, Lehavy and Trueman (2000). This research also shows that surprisingly smaller brokers tend to make twice as many "sell" recommendations than the biggest investment boutiques (14 per cent of sell/strong sell against 6 per cent for the big brokers houses during the period studied (1986-1998). The smallest brokers tend also to have superior "sell" recommendations than their bigger competitors. This may be linked to the fact that the big broker houses have stronger interests and incentives for preserving existing or potential client relationships.

and their larger number of analysts, bigger investment firms tend to outperform their smaller counterparts. An analyst's forecast accuracy tends to increase with the size of the investment boutique to which the research analyst belongs, not only because the biggest investment houses tend to hire the best analysts but also because they offer them greater resources to carry out their research (databases, information systems, public policy and industries networks,...). As noted by Brown, Hugon and Luo (2006), "you can be the best analyst and be off the map simply because you do not belong to one of the top institutions. You can also be the best analyst but remain unknown because your research is not referenced in the media, newspapers or research providers like Bloomberg, Reuters, Investext or Multext. Lastly, depending on the type of firm you are working for, your track record can be better or worse, depending whether you are in the sell side industry or in the buy side".

Concerning research analysts strategies, Jackson (2005) studies the Australian equity market to demonstrate that analysts are confronted with a trade-off between sending true signals to the market (thereby building up one's reputation) and sending optimistic recommendations to obtain the short-term benefit of higher commissions.

Studies of the relationship between underwriters and recommendations are scarcer, and the results suggest there is a conflict of interest between different sections of an investment bank department, such as between the section charged with issuing securities and the research department. Krigman, Shaw and Womack (2001) studied 578 companies that went public between 1993 and 1995. One of the major findings is that almost a third of the issuers switch underwriters and it was concluded that a key reason why companies switch underwriters is to "buy and influence analyst coverage from the new lead underwriter". Analysing the US equity market, Michaely and Womack (1999) found that "stocks that underwriter analysts recommend perform more poorly than "buy" recommendations by unaffiliated brokers prior to, at the time of, and subsequent to the recommendation date" and that underwriter analysts issue 50 per cent more buy outlooks than other analysts do. Additionally, they surveyed a small group of investment managers and bankers. Every one of the managers and 77 per cent of the bankers believed the best explanation for the findings was the conflict of interest of analyst firms' underwriters. These results suggest that recommendations given by underwriter analysts are biased.

The purpose of our study is to focus on emerging markets that have not yet been analysed from this angle. As is the case for developed countries, research analysts play a central role in financial emerging markets. Together with fund managers they are at the heart of the confidence game (Santiso, 2003; Santiso, 1999). Their recommendations influence the price of a company's stock or a sovereign bond. They live in a forward-looking world where anticipation and prediction (of rises or falls) is the key to reaching a financial nirvana measured in extra bonuses. Their cognitive regime is embedded in short-term horizons, research and trade priorities and therefore potential conflicts of interest.

These research analysts study companies and sovereigns in emerging markets to produce buy and sell recommendations. They are usually specialised in a particular industry, sector or, for emerging markets, particular countries and areas, Latin America being in itself an asset class. Whether or not a company or country is covered by research analysts is a central issue. Without significant coverage by the industry, the company or country simply does not exist in the financial world¹⁵. The analysts' outputs and opinions about a firm or a country are precious signals to which investors react. Investors react to the information contained in analysts' earnings forecasts, stock recommendations and also target prices¹⁶.

In spite of the amount of literature on broker recommendations, analysts' bias, and fund managers' relations, very little has been written on emerging markets. Some papers underline that there is strong evidence that foreign financial analysts outperform local analysts in these markets, as they tend to produce more timely and more accurate forecasts (Bacmann and Bolliger, 2001; Seasholes, 2000)¹⁷. In a recent paper Seasholes investigated information asymmetries in emerging stock markets and found that there was little evidence that locals were better informed than foreigners and there is evidence that foreign investors can outperform local swhen trading specific stocks (Seasholes, 2004). Bae, Stulz and Tan (2005), by using a sample of 32 countries, among them some emerging ones, tend to find on the contrary a local advantage for the period 2001-2003 and in particular US investors tend to underweight a country's stocks more in their portfolio if that country has a higher analyst local advantage. This is the case in particular in countries where less public information is disclosed by firms, and therefore available to worldwide analysts (see also Chang, 2003).

During the 1990s, the emerging equity markets industry boomed, with the number of stocks covered rising from 150 to nearly 500 between 1993 and 2000, according to some estimates (Bacmann and Bolliger, 2001). The number of brokers covering emerging stocks also increased (from 66 to 170) as well as the number of analysts (from around 260 to more than 1650 for the same period). The average number of analysts employed by foreign brokerage houses amounted to 8 while the average for local ones was 5.5. Local analysts tended however to be relatively more active, producing forecasts every 76 days (while their foreign peers produced one every 71 days) and changing their firm forecasts on average 1.5 times per firm each year (against 1.16). As shown by Bae *et al.* (2005), the number of analysts per country varies a lot: while South Africa has only 3 firms and Brazil has 23, the former had 126 analysts covering stocks (85 of them foreign) and the latter only 28 (11 of them foreign).

Other micro-focused studies analysed individual investor behaviour: the 90,500 actively investing individuals within the People's Republic of China by the beginning of the 2000s (Feng and Seasholes, 2003); the mutual funds investment strategies in emerging markets (Kaminsky *et al.*, 2004);

^{15.} The consequence of this is that companies or countries have to fight to be included in indexes or simply to be covered by analysts. For a company, for example, this means presenting coherent products and corporate strategies easily and clearly identifiable by stock market analysts. As underlined by Ezra Zuckerman, "a firm that participates in a given industry but does not draw attention from industry specialists can be described as suffering from coverage" and tends to contribute to diversifying strategies by corporate managers in order that their stock could be more easily understood by financial analysts. See Zuckerman (2000).

^{16.} See Brav and Lehavy (2001) and Bradshaw (2000).

^{17.} Bolliger finds however that local houses in Europe have an advantage over foreign ones (Bolliger, 2004), sharing the same kind of results as other studies on OECD countries (Orpurt, 2004). The same kind of research has been conducted for fund managers in emerging markets (Choe *et al.*, 2005; Dvorak, 2005).

or the extent and accuracy of analyst activity across 47 countries (15 of them emerging markets) covered by Chang, Khanna and Palepu (2000).

All in all, studies focusing on emerging-markets analysts, brokers and investors tend to be scarce. When studies do exist, they are concentrated on equity markets. None, as far as we know, investigated the confidence game within emerging bond markets. Indeed, studies concerning the structure of the primary sovereign bond market are rare and they are concentrated on the access of emerging countries to the international bond market (Gelos, Sahay and Sandleris, 2004; Grigorian, 2003).

This is in fact quite surprising when compared to the density of studies issued on financial analysts over the past years. Since 1992 no less than 250 papers related to financial analysts have been published in the nine major research journals, according to one of the most complete reviews of the literature (Ramnath, Rock and Shane, 2006).

Our study covers this gap. We use untapped and rich datasets, built entirely for this purpose, as explained in the following section. We want, first, to determine whether bond analyst recommendations are related to the underwriting mandate or to the size of a specific country's bond market. Our second objective is to study the impact of investment banks' recommendations on fund flows, in other terms whether these analyses are relevant or useful to understanding capital flows towards emerging economies. For this we construct a unique database covering the period 1997-2006 for all the bond recommendations by the major Wall Street and City brokerage firms dominating the emerging bond markets, and specifically the Latin American segment, the region being the most active in bond markets.

III. DESCRIPTION OF THE DATA

In this section we present the source and the relevance of the data used for this paper. The data can be divided into three different types. Firstly, we have the information provided by brokerage houses to investors about their sentiment *vis-à-vis* an emerging economy. Secondly, we employ data related to the structure of the Latin American Bond Market. More precisely, we use issues, size of each country in the market and credit risk given by the market to emerging countries. Finally, we have taken some macroeconomic variables of Latin American economies such as capital flows, economic activity, interest rates, exchanges rates and inflation rates.

The most important and innovative aspect of our paper is the construction of a unique and totally new untapped database containing the recommendations given by the major investment banks of the Latin American bond markets. Indeed, this is the first publication that studies the impact that investment banks' recommendations may have on Latin American Capital Markets. By using simple statistical analyses we investigate the impact of research publications on emerging capital markets.

For this purpose, we have used the publications produced by the major investment banks operating in emerging markets. In their monthly or quarterly reports they publish their recommendations for each emerging country, providing inputs for their clients, namely the "buy side" industry of portfolio asset managers, mutual funds, hedge funds, pension funds, etc. These publications are only available for clients and are not therefore public information. Indeed, they represent a direct and strict link between financial intermediaries and investors. We managed to build the database for 10 brokers, all of them dominant players in emerging bond markets as underwriters. They are all from developed countries' brokerage houses, which are the dominant market makers: ABN AMRO, Barclays Capital, Citibank, Credit Suisse First Boston (now Credit Suisse), Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan, Lehman Brothers, Merrill Lynch and Morgan Stanley (See Annex 1 for a description of these publications).

The period of the recommendations that we have used goes from July 1997 to July 2006¹⁸, nearly 10 years, and the number of recommendations is over 3,400¹⁹. No reports before this period are available, either in the websites or databases of the brokers. As shown in Table 1, we have taken 11 emerging countries for this research. Indeed they are the Latin American countries

^{18.} In fact, for the period July 1997 - December 1999 we only have information from Citibank.

^{19.} Most of these publications are monthly (see Annex 1). In order to compare the recommendations provided by investment banks, we have defined a specific month from the 20 of each month (not included) to the 20 of the next month (included). For instance, recommendations given in July are those that are comprised between 21 June and 20 July.

that are studied in these publications which represent nearly 95 per cent of the GDP of the region. They also concentrated over the period the major bond issuers within the emerging-market asset class. With regard to investment banks, our database is constructed from 10 investment banks which represent more than 80 per cent of the investment banks present in the Latin American sovereign IPOs.

The frequency of these publications is in most cases monthly, and the recommendations that we have used are those given to sovereign foreign debt (we only consider country bonds, not corporate bonds). In order to compare the view of each bank towards Latin American countries at the same time, we have classified three types of recommendations, which are Overweight (the value of 1), Neutral (0) and Underweight (-1), corresponding to the cases of buying, maintaining and selling with respect to an index (e.g. EMBI+ calculated by JPMorgan). This means that given overall portfolio constraints, a buying recommendation must be compensated by a selling advice, implying that investment banks are constrained to underweight countries in the composition of the portfolio when they have a favourable view of a particular country. Additionally, these recommendations are composed only by emerging countries, meaning that for all investment banks that we have taken, overall emerging market portfolio is always unchanged. In Annex 2, we give an example of the research publication's recommendations given by one of the largest investment banks present in Latin America.

| | ABN | BARCLY | CITI | CSFB | DB | GS | JPM | LB | ML | MS | TOTAL |
|------------------------|------|--------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|------|------|-------|-------|
| Argentina | 11 | 4 | 69 | 59 | 50 | 24 | 62 | 19 | 21 | 26 | 345 |
| Brazil | 11 | 14 | 73 | 61 | 50 | 25 | 59 | 19 | 29 | 25 | 366 |
| Chile | 11 | 14 | 78 | 61 | 0 | 25 | 58 | 19 | 0 | 0 | 266 |
| Colombia | 11 | 15 | 77 | 63 | 50 | 25 | 62 | 19 | 28 | 25 | 375 |
| Dom. Rep. | 0 | 0 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 44 | 0 | 29 | 15 | 99 |
| Ecuador | 1 | 15 | 76 | 61 | 50 | 25 | 61 | 19 | 29 | 24 | 361 |
| Mexico | 11 | 15 | 78 | 61 | 50 | 25 | 61 | 19 | 29 | 24 | 373 |
| Panama | 0 | 14 | 61 | 61 | 49 | 25 | 61 | 0 | 29 | 24 | 324 |
| Peru | 1 | 14 | 78 | 57 | 50 | 25 | 61 | 19 | 29 | 24 | 358 |
| Uruguay | 0 | 0 | 21 | 60 | 0 | 16 | 54 | 19 | 29 | 0 | 199 |
| Venezuela | 11 | 13 | 81 | 61 | 50 | 25 | 61 | 19 | 29 | 24 | 374 |
| TOTAL | 68 | 118 | 701 | 605 | 399 | 242 | 644 | 171 | 281 | 211 | 3440 |
| Part. Underwriting (%) | 2.4% | 2.0% | 12.2% | 7.1% | 10.0% | 9.8% | 22.2% | 0.0% | 5.5% | 12.5% | 83.6% |

 Table 1. Investment Banks' Recommendations Database: Number of Observations

 (July 1997 – July 2006)

Source: the authors from investment banks' publications (for recommendations) and Bloomberg (for underwriting), 2006.

In order to compare these recommendations with one of the most important businesses of investment banks in emerging countries, we constructed a database that contains the Latin American Sovereign Bond Issues from January 1999 to July 2006. The source of information was *Bloomberg* which, among other things, includes the lead managers (or underwriters), the amount outstanding, and the issue and maturity date of each issue. The most important reason for choosing *Bloomberg* as a source of information is that their database is one of the most important benchmarks for market-makers in relation to the list of leaders in the underwriting business. Indeed, the "League Table" by *Bloomberg*, calculated yearly and from 1999, represents an

important guide for investors, issuers and actors about the reputation (measured as the market share) of each investment bank²⁰. In order to define the issues that can be included in this "League Table", *Bloomberg* has specified the characteristics of these issues²¹.

As shown in Table 2, the data used is composed by 415 underwriters and corresponds to 251 sovereign issues²². In particular, almost 75 per cent of the underwriters are located in Brazil, Argentina, Colombia and Mexico. It is interesting to note that in 1999 Argentina had to use 60 per cent of the underwriters present that year in Latin America in order to place a huge number of bonds, which in fact further complicated the resolution of the Argentinean crisis. In 1999 alone, Argentina issued a total of 52 bonds, compared with 17 for Brazil and 8 for Mexico. The most active issuer in our sample over the period is also the largest economy of the region, namely Brazil, which also happens to be the most liquid Latin American market.

| | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006 July | TOTAL |
|-----------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-----------|-------|
| Argentina | 52 | 21 | 5 | | | | | | 78 |
| Brazil | 17 | 21 | 12 | 8 | 8 | 12 | 18 | 6 | 102 |
| Chile | 2 | | 2 | 5 | 2 | 2 | | | 13 |
| Colombia | 5 | 12 | 24 | 4 | 5 | 5 | 9 | 2 | 66 |
| Dom. Rep. | | | 2 | | 2 | | | 2 | 6 |
| Ecuador | | | | | | | 2 | | 2 |
| Mexico | 8 | 7 | 8 | 6 | 12 | 9 | 5 | 2 | 57 |
| Panama | 2 | 2 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 | | 15 |
| Peru | | | | 4 | 4 | 2 | 5 | | 15 |
| Uruguay | 1 | 4 | 10 | 2 | | | 6 | 6 | 29 |
| Venezuela | | 2 | 10 | | 4 | 7 | 9 | | 32 |
| TOTAL | 87 | 69 | 76 | 31 | 38 | 40 | 56 | 18 | 415 |

Table 2. Number of Lead Managers (Latin American Sovereign Bonds Issues)

Source: the authors from Bloomberg, 2006.

With the purpose of studying the size of the bond market for each Latin American Country, we took the weight of each country in the JP Morgan Emerging Markets Bond Index Global (EMBI Global). This index is a reference of for bond market-makers, financial researchers and policy makers, which are, for each country, placed in the secondary market.

^{20.} See *Bloomberg Markets* (April 2006) for a detail of the relevance for the market of the information provided in that database.

^{21.} The most important types of sovereign bonds issues are included in this table (i.e. Global Bonds, Private Bonds and Bonds denominated in Euros and Yen). As noted by Bloomberg, the league table excludes "the following issue types: accredited investor tranches, asset-backed issues, auction note agencies, collateralized bond obligations, collateralized loan obligations, commercial paper, municipal bonds, mortgage-backed issues, remarketed issues, repackaged bonds, variable principal redemption issues, variable interest equity-linked issues, and credit linked notes, selling group agency issues, strips, units, warrants".

^{22.} Indeed, the number of Lead Managers used today for most of the Latin American Emerging Bond Issues is two.

The countries that are included in the index were low/middle-income countries (as defined by the World Bank) for two consecutive years. Concerning the characteristics of the securities, only bonds that have an issue size higher than \$500 million and a maturity of at least 2.5 years are incorporated²³. As JP Morgan Securities (2004) notes, "the weight of each instrument in the EMBI Global is determined by dividing the issue's market capitalisation by the total market capitalisation for instruments in the index". Therefore "country weights for the EMBI Global are easily calculated by aggregating the weights of the instruments for each country".

In Figure 1, we have the market weight of the three principal Latin American countries that compose that index today. Brazil and Mexico are by far the largest Latin American Bond Issuers (nearly 35 per cent of the total index). Indeed, they represent more than 60 per cent of the Latin American Weight of the Index. Argentina nearly disappeared after 2001 and its massive default but one year before was still a major heavyweight, representing nearly a quarter of the total index.

Figure 1



Source: JP Morgan, 2006.

To calculate the perception of investors towards country credit risk, we employed the spread of the EMBI Global which is measured as the credit risk premium over US Treasury Bonds and is calculated as the difference between the yield to maturity bond and the yield to maturity of the corresponding point on the US treasury spot curve. For the country weights and the spreads we had information on a monthly basis from 1997 until August 2006 for the most important bond issuers in the region. In contrast, for Chile, the Dominican Republic and Uruguay the period starts in June 1999, October 2001 and June 2001 respectively.

^{23.} For a more detailed description of the construction of that index, see *JP Morgan Securities* (December 2004).

With the aim of studying the impact of investment banks' recommendations on capital flows, we have used the database created by the Boston-based private consulting firm *Emerging Portfolio Fund Research* which is constituted by the percentage allocated to each emerging country by funds²⁴. We then possess information on the country average weightings of all funds that invest in Latin American Equity and Bond Markets. The most important advantage of this database is that it contains information on a monthly basis about what differs with respect to other databases, such as the CPIS (Coordinated Portfolio Investment Survey sponsored by the IMF)²⁵ that includes portfolio investment assets on an annual basis and is produced by multilateral organisations (Bank for International Settlements -BIS-, the International Monetary Fund -IMF-, the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development -OECD- and the World Bank -WB-).

For equity flows, the period we used starts in July 1997 and ends in December 2005 for most of the Latin American countries of our sample²⁶. In contrast, the bond flows database begins only in April 2002 but also ends in December 2005²⁷.

In order to test the impact of investments banks' recommendations on capital (bond and equity) flows, we have used some macroeconomic and financial variables as control variables. These variables are available on a monthly basis: economic activity growth, inflation rate, short-term interest rate, exchange rate, the spread of the EMBI Global, equity return, US industrial production and the US Federal rate. The sources of information of these variables are *Bloomberg* and *Thomson Datastream*, and cover the period June 1997 – December 2005.

In the case of economic activity growth, for some countries (e.g. Brazil and Colombia), for which there is no monthly indicator of economic activity, we have taken as proxy the industrial production due to the strong relationship between this variable and GDP. For the case of Venezuela, given the lack of a robust monthly indicator, we have transformed GDP (that is calculated on a quarterly basis) to a monthly basis. For that, we have used Boot, Feibes, and Lisman (1967) methodology consisting of minimising the sum of squares of the second differences. Concerning the other macroeconomic variables we have used the most relevant indicator for each country²⁸.

^{24.} See <u>http://www.emergingportfolio.com</u> for a detailed description of that database.

^{25.} For more information about this database, see http://www.imf.org/external/np/sta/pi/cpis.htm

^{26.} For Ecuador and Panama, we have information only from February 2005 and for Dominican Republic and Uruguay there is no information for equity flows.

^{27.} For Dominican Republic, the information provided for bond flows only starts in July 2004.

^{28.} For the interest rates, for instance, we have used for Argentina *Prime rate 30 dias*, For Brazil *Selic rate*, for Chile *Tasa de Politica Monetaria*, for Colombia *DTF*, for Mexico *Cetes 28 dias*, for Peru *Interbank Interest Rate* and finally for Venezuela *TAN*.

IV. INVESTMENT BANKS' BUSINESS AND RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS

As we have noted in the previous sections, banks are faced with a trade-off concerning recommendations. Indeed, while sell side or brokerage activity give accurate and fit information in order to build a long-term reputation, information transmitted to investors could be biased with the purpose of obtaining short-term profits and to recommend optimistically the assets of which banks are underwriters in an IPO.

In this section we aim to analyse whether investment banks' recommendations are related to the business of these banks. We give some preliminary results in order to understand whether banks' advice to investors is biased. For that, we first analysed the recommendations given by underwriters during the announcement date of an IPO and then studied the possible impact that the market size of an emerging country could have on the recommendation given by banks.

The results given in this section are preliminary in the sense that we have in part neglected the role of the recommendations in the sell side long-term business²⁹. Indeed, further research must be done concerning the performance of these recommendations in terms of investment value and to contrast them with the underwriting activity³⁰. Indeed, the most important reason to explain the existence of recommendations is that it may be a tool used by institutional investors.

IV.1 Underwriters' Recommendations: A Descriptive Analysis

With the aim of investigating possible incentives that investment banks could have to concede a favourable recommendation to a specific emerging country, we have studied the behaviour of investment banks during sovereign bond issues. More specifically, we have integrated underwriters of the Latin American bonds issues with their recommendations, in order to analyse their recommendations in an IPO.

Our database is composed of 160 underwriters' recommendations over approximately seven years (January 1999-July 2006). By giving the value of 1 to overweight recommendations

^{29.} In this section, we have just analysed assets' credit risk and therefore it must be completed by other determinant variables such as returns and correlation of assets.

^{30.} For that, it is necessary to compare the investment return obtained from brokers' recommendations with the optimal risk-adjusted return of a portfolio composed by emerging market class. For this kind of research, it is first essential to obtain all recommendations given to emerging countries and then take into account buy side business data (a proxy could be the size of the secondary market), underwriting activity data and finally data relative to sell side business (returns, spreads, variances and covariance of assets).

(buy advices), 0 to neutral recommendations (maintain the same percentage of an asset in the portfolio) and -1 to underweight recommendations (sell advices), we have constructed a database that allows us to give a preliminary result on whether investment banks' recommendations are biased and therefore dependent on the IPOs business. As we have noted before, given portfolio restrictions, these recommendations cannot be overweight for all countries; a favourable recommendation for one country has to be compensated with a pessimistic view of another country.

| | OVER. (%) | NEUTRAL (%) | UNDER. (%) | OBSERV. |
|-----------|-----------|-------------|------------|---------|
| Argentina | 0.0 | 66.7 | 33.3 | 9 |
| Brazil | 59.5 | 40.5 | 0.0 | 37 |
| Chile | 20.0 | 60.0 | 20.0 | 5 |
| Colombia | 35.5 | 64.5 | 0.0 | 31 |
| Dom. Rep. | 0.0 | 100.0 | 0.0 | 2 |
| Ecuador | 50.0 | 50.0 | 0.0 | 2 |
| Mexico | 29.0 | 54.8 | 16.1 | 31 |
| Panama | 0.0 | 71.4 | 28.6 | 14 |
| Peru | 46.2 | 38.5 | 15.4 | 13 |
| Uruguay | 0.0 | 100.0 | 0.0 | 1 |
| Venezuela | 66.7 | 26.7 | 6.7 | 15 |
| TOTAL | 38.0 | 52.0 | 10.0 | 160 |

Table 3. Underwriters' Recommendations(Announcement date of the issue): Jan. 1999 – July 2006

Source: the authors from Investment Banks' recommendations and Bloomberg, 2006.

In Table 3, we present the recommendations given by banks that have been underwriters for Latin American sovereign bond issues. The most important and relevant result is that 90 per cent (i.e. 144 of 160) of the underwriters recommend, at the announcement date of the issue, to buy or to maintain in their portfolio the bonds issued by the countries where they are acting as lead managers. Indeed, given that only 10 per cent of the recommendations are negative, we could observe that banks' recommendations appear to be biased towards positive outlooks.

On analysing each Latin American country, all of them (except Argentina and Panama) have a higher percentage of optimistic underwriters' recommendations than pessimistic recommendations.

The Argentinean case is a very useful, interesting and special case in the Emerging Bond Market. Prior to the default of the external debt, the market share of Argentina for the total Emerging Bond Market was 20 per cent, similar to the market share of Brazil and even superior to the market share of Mexico (almost 15 per cent), and today it represents only 2 per cent. All the issues that we have included were prior to the 2001 Argentinean Default and some of them just a few months before the crisis. It is worth pointing out that even if we have not noted an overweight recommendation, 67 per cent of the recommendations were to maintain the positions in Argentinean External Debt, even in the months before the default. Indeed, some of the

comments given by banks months before the crisis were, at the least, unrealistic and biased, given that macroeconomic perspective was unsustainable³¹.

By analysing the first three countries for which we have the highest number of observations (Brazil, Colombia and Mexico) or underwriters' recommendations, we note that for all of them brokers tend to have a positive view about the country (100 per cent for Colombia and Brazil, and 84 per cent for Mexico). A detailed analysis of brokers' recommendations shows that Brazil and Colombia have never obtained a pessimistic view (even though Colombia once lost its investment grade and Brazil experienced major financial turbulences in 2002). In Mexico fewer than 2 out of 10 recommendations were pessimistic. Therefore, we could point out from empirical evidence that during the last years, banks' recommendations were favourable to the country for which they acted as underwriters³².

What is the incentive for underwriters to give a favourable recommendation at the announcement date of an issue? Firstly, positive recommendations could have an impact on the success of the "book-building" process in which underwriters are designated by governments to place the bonds through institutional investors. If your view is positive, or at least neutral on a given country, your likelihood of getting a future mandate will probably increase. The refutation of this hypothesis would be if investment banks that recommend selling a sovereign continued to get underwriting mandates.

Here we impart some of the biased views concerning the Argentinean Crisis. Credit Suisse First Boston: 31. "Argentina. Remain market-weight. We believe the expected debt exchange will be a key driver of Argentine asset prices during the month".... "Over the next month we expect to see many more specifics of the economic program, both on the fiscal side - to be released in the IMF Letter of Intent - as well as on the deregulation front, which should reduce uncertainty." CSFB May 2001 and "The successful debt exchange in Argentina should give the market some stability in the near-term horizon, which should be most beneficial to Brazil." CSFB June 2001. Salomon Smith Barney: "The successful implementation of the IMF support package — with the associated debt management transactions and the change in the global outlook probably increases the chances that economic activity will pick up in the second half of the year. We therefore recommend a neutral position in external bonds and local currency instruments." Salomon Smith Barney January 17, 2001 JPMorgan: "Argentina: Market-weight. Favourable technicals underpin our portfolio allocation this month." JP Morgan 5 April 2001 and "Argentina: Market-weight. The improved near-term outlook appears mostly priced in, although we like the short end of the curve from a relative value perspective." JP Morgan 8 February 2001. Morgan Stanley: "We are maintaining our Market Perform recommendation on Argentine bonds....Relaxation of fiscal targets and an innovative IMF-led financial package from creditors both improve Argentina's credit outlook. Argentina needs to raise an estimated \$2.6 billion to fulfil its first quarter financing requirements. New issues are expected to total \$5.6 billion in 2001. Growth and fiscal performance are becoming the focus of investors' attention." Morgan Stanley January 26, 2001.

^{32.} However another explanation for that result is studied in more detail in the section IV.2. A country that is becoming larger should somehow increase its share and then their recommendations will be favourable.

Secondly, because one of the roles of underwriters is to participate in the secondary market in order to stabilise the price and avoid volatility of the new issue³³. By giving favourable advice to investors regarding external debt issued, underwriters could send positive signals about that country and thus avoid a decrease in the price³⁴.

In order to study information structure in the IPO market and to analyse whether investment banks' recommendations could depend on the underwriting business, it would be interesting to compare underwriters' recommendations with recommendations given by other investment banks (namely non-underwriters recommendations, that is investment banks that failed to secure the bond issuance mandate) during the announcement date of the issue of a bond.

As shown in Figure 2, on average (period 1999-2006), for all countries underwriters' recommendations to Latin American countries are higher than or at least equal to nonunderwriters' recommendations. Additionally, by taking the weighted average, underwriters' recommendations are 25 per cent larger (0.3 vs. 0.2) with respect to those of Non-Lead managers. This is particularly the case for Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela. Interestingly, in the case of Brazil, the biggest and most liquid market, such a bias is less marked, while in the case of Mexico it is the opposite.

^{33.} As it is noted on the prospectus of the bonds, although the underwriter is not obligated to make a secondary market for the bonds, it plans to make one: "Brazil (the issuer) has been advised by the underwriters that the underwriters intend to make a market in the global bonds but are not obligated to do so and may discontinue market making at any time without notice. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the global bonds." Prospectus supplement of \$750,000,000. Federative Republic of Brazil. 10.5 per cent Global Bonds Due 2014. July 7, 2004.

^{34.} It would be interesting to analyse the impact of recommendations on the secondary market price of sovereign bonds, a pending research for emerging markets.

Figure 2



Source: the authors' own database, 2006.

Moreover, by comparing the recommendation made at the announcement date, by underwriters and non-underwriters, we discovered that 75 per cent of the lead managers' advice was higher than or equal to that made by other investment banks during 1999-2006 and for a sample of 149 recommendations³⁵. In particular, as we can see in Table 4, for all countries excluding Panama, with respect to non-underwriters' recommendations, the percentage of higher (i.e. more positive) underwriters' recommendations was superior to lower (i.e. negative) underwriters' recommendations.

^{35.} This sample is less than this one used for total recommendations (149 vs. 160) because in some bond issues (mostly at the beginning of the period) we obtained only the recommendation of the underwriter and not those of other investment banks.

| | HIGHER (%) | EQUAL (%) | LOWER (%) | OBSERV. |
|-----------|------------|-----------|-----------|---------|
| Argentina | 20.0 | 80.0 | 0.0 | 5 |
| Brazil | 38.9 | 33.3 | 27.8 | 36 |
| Chile | 20.0 | 60.0 | 20.0 | 5 |
| Colombia | 27.6 | 62.1 | 10.3 | 29 |
| Dom. Rep. | 0.0 | 100.0 | 0.0 | 2 |
| Ecuador | 100.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 2 |
| Mexico | 39.3 | 28.6 | 32.1 | 28 |
| Panama | 7.7 | 46.2 | 46.2 | 13 |
| Peru | 53.8 | 7.7 | 38.5 | 13 |
| Uruguay | 100.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 1 |
| Venezuela | 53.3 | 26.7 | 20.0 | 15 |
| TOTAL | 36.0 | 39.0 | 25.0 | 149 |

Table 4. Underwriters' Recommendations vs. Other investment Banks' Recommendations (1999-2006)

Source: the authors from Investment Banks' recommendations and Bloomberg, 2006.

By analysing the results presented in the preceding paragraphs, we obtained two interesting findings. First, given that a large part of underwriters' recommendations are positive, it suggests that they could be biased and so we cannot reject the hypothesis that they depend on the underwriting business. Second, despite the fact that 75 per cent of the lead managers' recommendations are superior or equal to non-lead managers' advice, that result is statistically less evident than the first finding. Therefore there is a remaining question that is related to the incentive that non-underwriters could have to give an equal or better recommendation than underwriters. For that we have analysed the structure of the underwriter market in Latin America.

In order to study the structure of the Latin American Primary Sovereign Bond Market we turn now to the participation of the underwriters in that market (Table 5). As noted before (see Table 2), the number of underwriters in the Sovereign Bond Market is small. Indeed, for most of the Latin American countries, during 1999-2006, 50 percent of the issues were realised by 5 investment banks and 90 per cent of the issues were realised by 10 investment banks. However, from the point of view of governments, we observe a diversification in the choice of underwriters, which results in a change over time of the underwriters with the purpose of reducing the dependence to a single Lead Manager. In the major countries' issuers (Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, Uruguay and Venezuela), the market share of a lead manager does not exceed 30 per cent, indicating no specific leader in the underwriter market, at least for the most important countries' issuers. It also indicates that major sovereign countries tend to diversify the allocation of their mandates for bond issuances, and avoid, when they can, being dependent on a sole underwriter.

| | # Issues | ABN | BARCLY. | CITI | CSFB | DB | GS | JPM | ML | MS | UBS | TOTAL |
|-----------|----------|------|---------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-------|
| Argentina | 53 | 1.0 | 1.4 | 7.7 | 9.9 | 17.3 | 6.2 | 19.2 | 2.3 | 17.6 | 0.0 | 82.7 |
| Brazil | 53 | 0.9 | 0.4 | 10.9 | 4.2 | 9.4 | 12.0 | 16.9 | 9.1 | 12.9 | 5.1 | 81.7 |
| Chile | 7 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 31.2 | 0.0 | 25.1 | 0.0 | 37.0 | 6.7 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 100.0 |
| Colombia | 42 | 3.8 | 0.0 | 13.9 | 11.4 | 3.8 | 13.4 | 22.1 | 11.8 | 11.6 | 4.8 | 96.6 |
| Dom. Rep. | 3 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 21.4 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 50.0 | 0.0 | 28.6 | 0.0 | 100.0 |
| Ecuador | 1 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 50.0 | 0.0 | 50.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 100.0 |
| Mexico | 35 | 0.0 | 6.0 | 9.9 | 7.1 | 4.9 | 17.1 | 28.7 | 1.0 | 12.1 | 4.1 | 90.9 |
| Panama | 11 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 39.9 | 0.0 | 5.0 | 3.5 | 16.9 | 0.0 | 34.6 | 0.0 | 100.0 |
| Peru | 10 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 24.0 | 4.8 | 13.5 | 0.0 | 41.8 | 4.8 | 3.8 | 7.2 | 100.0 |
| Uruguay | 19 | 1.3 | 0.0 | 22.3 | 6.2 | 16.7 | 0.0 | 11.9 | 10.7 | 7.1 | 19.5 | 95.7 |
| Venezuela | 17 | 20.6 | 3.4 | 2.9 | 20.6 | 14.0 | 0.0 | 14.9 | 3.4 | 0.0 | 9.7 | 89.5 |

Table 5. Participation (%) of the Underwriters in Latin American Countries (Jan. 1999-July 2006)

Source: the authors from Bloomberg, 2006.

Another way to arrive at a similar conclusion is by analysing the concentration of the underwriting market (Table 6).

| concentration | (mermua | III-1111 SC | | nuex) n | i the Of | luerwrn | ing w |
|--------------------|---------|-------------|------|---------|----------|---------|-------|
| | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 |
| Argentina | 0.14 | 0.14 | 0.34 | | | | |
| Brazil | 0.18 | 0.17 | 0.17 | 0.18 | 0.19 | 0.15 | 0.12 |
| Chile | 0.50 | | 0.50 | 0.51 | 0.50 | 0.50 | |
| Colombia | 0.28 | 0.27 | 0.11 | 0.25 | 0.39 | 0.54 | 0.19 |
| Dom. Rep. | | | 0.50 | | 0.50 | | |
| Ecuador | | | | | | | 0.50 |
| Mexico | 0.24 | 0.29 | 0.33 | 0.18 | 0.22 | 0.14 | 0.21 |
| Panama | 0.50 | 0.50 | 0.53 | 0.50 | 1.00 | 0.50 | 0.68 |
| Peru | | | | 0.38 | 0.36 | 0.53 | 0.22 |
| Uruguay | 1.00 | 0.53 | 0.14 | 0.53 | | | 0.31 |
| Venezuela | | 0.50 | 0.50 | | 0.41 | 0.20 | 0.28 |
| Weight. Aver (All) | 0.20 | 0.20 | 0.26 | 0.25 | 0.30 | 0.24 | 0.23 |

Table • . • . rket

0.21 * By taking only Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and Panama (i.e. countries for which we have info. for every year).

0.22

Source: the authors from Bloomberg, 2006.

Weight. Aver (selected)*

By calculating the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI)³⁶ for each Latin American Country during 1999-2005 (see Table 6), we obtained two important results. Firstly, by taking the U.S. Department of Justice definition of market concentration, given the reduced number of actors, the underwriting in the Latin American Bond Market could be considered as highly

0.23

0.20

0.24

0.22

0.20

The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) is a standard measure of concentration in Industrial 36. Organization and is defined as: $_{HHI} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i^2$ where x_i is the participation rate of firm *i* in a market composed by N firms.

concentrated³⁷. Indeed, as we have obtained from Table 2, the first three investment banks represent almost 50 percent of the market. Not surprisingly the highest ratios are found for countries like Panama and Ecuador, countries with fewer analysts and brokers covering their economies. Secondly, during the last seven years, we note that the concentration has remained stable (around 0.22) and we have seen neither an increase in the number of actors in this game nor an increase in the participation of a single underwriter.

Theoretically, Emerging Sovereign Bond Markets could be characterised by an imperfect competitive market in which underwriters are playing a repeated game. By taking investment banks' recommendations and reports as a marketing product, it is then advantageous to investment banks, given the dynamic of the "underwriting game", to recommend a country (i.e. a client) even if at that period they have not been underwriters. Moreover, given the few and consolidated number of actors in the underwriting market, it is possible that their reputation *vis-à-vis* investors that could be measured by transparent recommendations is not an issue, and that, on the contrary, they have the incentive to send similar signals to the market in order to maintain their respective market share in each country.

Therefore, it is not sure that non-underwriters' recommendations could be taken as a control variable to test if underwriters' recommendations are biased. In fact, this may explain why the result shown in Table 4 (underwriters' vs. non-underwriters' recommendations) is less robust than that obtained by analysing the percentage of positive underwriters' recommendations (Table 3). Therefore, we could not reject the hypothesis that recommendations depend on the underwriting market.

IV.2 Size of the Emerging Markets and Recommendations: Empirical Evidence and Implications

In the last sub-section we studied the relationship between investment banks' recommendations and the process of bond issues in the primary market. Here we study the possible influence of the size of the secondary bond market on investment banks' recommendations.

Indeed, in addition to the underwriting process, part of investment banks' business is also related to the bonds that have already been issued. One of the most important aspects for investment banks is the sale of portfolios to a large variety of financial intermediaries (mutual funds, pension funds, commercial banks, insurance companies,...) and the stability of asset prices that compose these portfolios is therefore relevant. For that purpose, investment banks' publications may be a useful tool to influence the asset prices.

With Emerging Bond Markets, it is clear that the percentage invested in these portfolios increases relative to the size of each emerging country. In order to calculate the relative size of each Latin American country in the Emerging Bond Markets, we have used the weight of each

^{37.} The U.S. Department of Justice considers a market with a result of less than 0.1 to be a competitive marketplace; a result of 0.1-0.18 to be a moderately concentrated marketplace; and a result of 0.18 or greater to be a highly concentrated marketplace. See http://www.usdoj.gov/atr/public/testimony/hhi.htm

country in the EMBI-Global (Emerging Market Bond Index) that can be used as the magnitude of each Latin American country in the Secondary Bond Market.

The weight of each emerging country in this database is similar to that obtained in other databases. For example, by comparing the EMBI-Global with the Joint External Debt Hub (JEDH) database³⁸ which provides the stock of international debt securities, we get a high correlation between both weights for the Latin American Emerging Countries (0.70 and 0.98 by excluding Argentina).

In order to analyse if investment banks' recommendations could depend on the size of the market of each emerging economy, a first step is to compare the EMBI-Global weight of each Latin American country with the average of the total investment banks' recommendations between July 1997 and July 2006. As shown in Table 7, by realising a simple cross-section analysis, we reveal that, excluding Argentina, there is a high correlation between investment banks' recommendations and the size of the markets (0.8 for 10 Latin American Countries).

| | Average Recommendation | EMBI-Global country weights | EMBI-Global spreads |
|--------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| | (1: over; 0: neutral; -1: under) | (%) | Basis Points (bp) |
| Argentina | -0.14 | 11.1 | 2536.7 |
| Brazil | 0.35 | 19.3 | 774.9 |
| Chile | 0.00 | 1.0 | 139.1 |
| Colombia | 0.12 | 2.2 | 496.1 |
| Dom. Rep. | -0.01 | 0.3 | 656.4 |
| Ecuador | -0.03 | 1.3 | 1391.6 |
| Mexico | 0.29 | 16.8 | 342.0 |
| Panama | -0.03 | 1.9 | 376.4 |
| Peru | 0.05 | 1.7 | 486.5 |
| Uruguay | -0.32 | 0.7 | 609.5 |
| Venezuela | 0.16 | 5.3 | 798.7 |
| Correlation with recomm. | (with Argentina) | 0.65 | -0.30 |
| Correlation with recomm. | (without Argentina) | 0.81 | -0.04 |

Table 7. Recommendations vs. Credit Risk and Size of the Countries (Average 1997-2006)

Source: the authors, from Investment banks' publications and JP Morgan, 2006.

Including Argentina, the correlation is lower (0.65) because their size in the market was substantial (11.1 per cent) *vis-à-vis* their recommendations (-0.14). In fact, if we compare the average of the recommendations for Argentina (1997-2006) with the present weight in the EMBI-Global (1.8 per cent in March 2006), the correlation between both variables for the total of Latin American countries is 0.8 (see Figure 3).

^{38.} This database is jointly developed by the Bank for International Settlements (BIS), the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the World Bank (WB). See: http://devdata.worldbank.org/sdmx/jedh/jedh_dbase.html

Figure 3



Source: the authors and JP Morgan, 2006.

The main result is that, as the size of the market increases, the recommendation tends to become increasingly favourable³⁹. That is the case for Brazil and Mexico, whose market share in the Emerging Market Bond Index is the highest for all the emerging countries (19.4 per cent and 16.8 per cent respectively) and consequently their recommendations are the highest of our sample (0.35 and 0.33 respectively). By contrast, for countries which are less relevant in the sovereign bond market, such as the Dominican Republic or Uruguay (0.3 per cent and 0.6 per cent respectively of the total Emerging Bond Market), the recommendations are negative or at least neutral (-0.01 and -0.32).

In order to test the robustness of this result, a first step is to analyse the relationship between investment banks' recommendations and credit risk⁴⁰. Intuitively, credit risk is one of the relevant aspects to determine if recommendations are objective and appropriate for the allocation of resources in emerging markets assets. Assets that hold a higher credit risk would be recommended less favourably than assets that enjoy a more reduced probability of default. As is shown in Table 7 column 3, we found that there is no correlation between both variables (-0.04 by excluding Argentina and -0.3 by including Argentina).

An interesting case is that of Chile, well known today as an exceptional country from the point of view of macroeconomic soundness and stability. During the period that we have studied, the spread of the Chilean Bonds were on average 142 basis points over Treasury Bills, the lowest of Latin American countries. By contrast, their recommendations were below those of

^{39.} In order to evaluate more precisely this result, an interesting future statistical analysis would be to study the impact of the size on the recommendations by estimating an ordered probit model.

^{40.} In order to calculate country credit risk, we have taken the spread of the EMBI-Global (JP Morgan), as a proxy of the perception of the market about country credit risk.

Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and Venezuela and close to neutral (0.05). The Chilean lower weight in the index might explain this paradox, as well as the fact that Chile has been constantly decreasing the number and size of its bond issuances.

As noted at the beginning of this section the results presented above are preliminary and they open a new research discussion (with considerable policy implications) on whether investment banks' recommendations are biased. For that it is necessary to complement this study by calculating the accuracy of these recommendations in terms of investment value.

However, by using simple statistical analysis, we have obtained two main results in this sub-section. First, it seems that country credit risk is not a relevant variable to determine the direction of the recommendations. Indeed, countries which are characterised by a stable and sound macroeconomic policy do not necessarily obtain more favourable recommendations than other economies. Second, we cannot reject the hypothesis that investment banks' recommendations depend on the relative size of the secondary bond market. By taking as an analogy the famous term of "too big to fail", which refers to the case in which governments will only bail out financial intermediaries which are considered to be of "systemic" importance, we obtained a similar result but in a contrary direction and that we call "too big to underweight". In fact, investment banks will not send negative signals to investors of countries or governments that could be considered to be too important for their business, given their size in the market.

V. EMERGING MARKETS' CAPITAL FLOWS AND INVESTMENT BANKS' RECOMMENDATIONS

In the last section, we could not reject the hypothesis that investment banks' recommendations depend on the business of these banks in emerging economies. Therefore, it is crucial to analyse the possible impact that these recommendations could have on emerging economies portfolio flows and then on investors' behaviour.

The direct implication that foreign investors' behaviour could have on emerging countries is measured in the capital account. Following a variety of capital-market crises in emerging economies (Mexico 1994-1995, Asia 1997, Russia 1998 and Argentina 2001), with a different diagnostic of these economies preceding the crises, researchers and policy makers have been interested in the determinants and effects of a cutback of capital flows. The expression employed to describe that event is "sudden stop", which according to Calvo (1998), was inspired by a bankers' adage that "it is not the speed that kills; it is the sudden stop," (quoted in Dornbusch, Goldfajn, and Valdés, 1995). There is extensive research that focuses on studying the reasons for a sudden stop. A good survey of recent literature is exposed in Edwards and Frankel (2002) and Eichengreen, Gupta and Mody (2006).

More generally, independently of whether the sample of countries analysed has presented a contraction of the capital account, a large body of the literature has studied the determinants of capital flows to emerging economies. A good description of the review of that literature is found in Jeanneau and Micu (2002) and Prasad *et al.* (2003). By capital flows most of these studies refer to foreign direct investments, foreign banks' lending and bond or equity flows and take macroeconomic and financial variables as possible explanatory factors. As we note below, the conclusions of these studies differ, which could be explained by the diverse forms of capital flows and the period and sample of countries employed.

A large part of the literature has divided the determinants of capital flows into two components. The first component, called "push" factors, are the global factors that could incite investors to pull investments out of developed economies due to international market conditions. Such factors are related to international economic growth and financial liquidity. Most of the empirical literature of the first half of the 1990s attributes global factors as the main explanatory variables of capital flows. For example, Fernández-Arias (1996) found that global interest rates account for around 86 per cent of the increase in portfolio flows for the average emerging market country between 1989 and 1993. Calvo *et al.* (1993) established a similar result, by also including US industrial production as a determinant variable.

The second component is known as "pull" factors, and refers to local or specific aspects that incite the entry of capital into emerging economies. For that, the research literature includes macroeconomic variables (such as GDP growth, interest rates, balance of payments variables, quality of the institutions and/or liberalisations and regulations reforms) and financial variables (such as credit risk - measured from rating agencies or bond prices- exchange rates, and/or rate of return of equities)⁴¹.

In contrast to literature from the first half of the 1990s, most of the results in recent literature found that local factors combine with external factors to explain capital flows (see Taylor and Sarno, 1997; Alfaro, Kalemli-Ozcan and Volosovych, 2005).

In addition to "pull" and "push" factors, recent empirical literature has studied the impact of information and distance on capital flows⁴². In particular Portes and Rey (2005) develop an empirical model in which geographical information and transaction technology play a role in determining international equity flows. More precisely, international information flows, which are measured by telephone traffic, number of bank branches and an index of insider trading, are a significant aspect of explaining cross-border equity flows. In fact, as is noted by the authors, information asymmetries heavily influence international transactions.

Our empirical analysis can be seen as complementary to the research presented above. Indeed, by taking into account investment banks' recommendations as an additional factor to explain capital flows, we included an information variable that it is provided by brokers to capital markets.

In order to study the impact of investment banks' outlooks on fund flows, we analysed the most important Latin American economies (i.e. Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Peru and Venezuela). On a monthly basis, we have taken the average of the recommendations given by investment banks for each Latin American economy and the percentage allocated by funds in these countries with respect to the total amount invested in emerging economies. Indeed, we preferred to use weighted flows instead of nominal or net flows with the purpose of studying the discriminatory role of investors among countries. Concerning the period of the analyses (1997-2005 for equity flows and 2002-2006 for bond flows), as noted by Grandes *et al.* (2005), it is interesting to explore the dynamics and determinants given the new rules, new actors and new risks faced by emerging markets today.

We build a cross-sectional time series analysis that uses, in addition to investment banks' recommendations (that may be considered as a microeconomic variable), some macroeconomic variables mentioned in previous literature. These macroeconomic variables could de divided into three groups. First, we have taken "pull" variables whose trend can be directly influenced by financial intermediaries and are then defined by capital markets. These variables are the *spread* of

^{41.} It is important to note the strong relationship that exists between macroeconomic and financial variables. See for example, Grandes (2002) for the case of the spread of bonds with permanent and transitory fundamental variables.

^{42.} See Ghosh and Wolf (1999), Savastano (2000), Papaioannou (2004*a*), Papaioannou (2004*b*) and Portes and Rey (2005).

Emerging Sovereign Bonds (over US treasury Bills), the exchange rate and the rate of return of equities in local markets. Second, we used "pull" variables whose real sector is determinant to defining their evolution and where financial intermediaries play an indirect role. These variables are economic activity, interest rate and inflation rate. Finally, we used two "push" variables including US industrial production and US Federal Funds rate.

One of the advantages of using panel data is to reduce multi-collinearity; we have thus used VIF (Variance Inflation Factor) as an indicator of this problem. More precisely, by implementing that analysis, we have excluded US Federal Funds Real rate (by subtracting annual Core CPI rate)⁴³, a Composite Leading Indicator (CLI) provided by the OECD, that is proxy of world economic activity and interest rate differentials (with respect to US Federal rates)⁴⁴.

In order to test the impact of recommendations on capital flows (Bond flows and Equity flows respectively), we have used the following two panel data regressions models:

$$Bond_{ii} = \alpha + \beta \cdot \operatorname{Re} c_{ii} + \gamma \cdot Market_{ii} + \delta \cdot \operatorname{Re} al_{ii} + \mu \cdot Push_i + \varepsilon_{ii}$$
(i)

$$Equity_{ii} = \alpha + \beta \cdot \operatorname{Re} c_{ii} + \gamma \cdot Market_{ii} + \delta \cdot \operatorname{Re} al_{ii} + \mu \cdot Push_i + \varepsilon_{ii}$$
(ii)

where $\text{Re} c_{it}$ *it* represents investment banks' recommendations given to country *i* in period *t*, *Market*_{it} corresponds to macroeconomic variables defined by capital markets (exchange rate, spread of sovereign bonds and rate of return of equity indices), $\text{Re} al_{it}$ are macroeconomic variables that are strongly influenced by real sector (economic activity, inflation rate and domestic interest rate) and finally *Push*_t represents country invariant variables which capture global factors (US nominal rates and US industrial production)⁴⁵.

We started the estimation technique with the current practice, OLS estimation. Since these are known to deal inadequately with time series and cross-section heterogeneity, we reported also Fixed Effects estimates (FEM estimators). In order to determine if a Random Effects Model (REM) was an adequate econometric model for this analysis we realised the Hausman Test⁴⁶. The

^{43.} Moreover, concerning the maturity of interest rates, we have excluded from our analysis US large term yields given the high degree of multicollinearity exhibited by interest rate term structure. See Fenandez-Arias (1996).

^{44.} By contrast with Chuhan *et al.* (1993) we have not obtained in our sample multicollinearity problems between US industrial production and US interest rate.

^{45.} Indeed, in order to analyse the impact of the credibility of the monetary and fiscal policy, the performance of the equity market and of the economy, the internal return, the relative price of the economy with respect to the US, the international liquidity and economic growth on capital flows we have taken into account respectively the inflation rate, the spread of the bonds, the rate of return on equity, the economic activity growth, the interest rate, the exchange rate, the international interest rate and the US industrial production growth.

^{46.} See Hausman (1978).

null hypothesis underlying the Hausman Test (FEM and REM estimators do not differ substantially) was rejected, so we concluded that REM is an inappropriate model for this analysis.

The results are presented in Tables A1 and A2 (Annexes 3 and 4 respectively) for Bond flows and for Equity flows they are reported in Tables B1 and B2 (Annexes 5 and 6 respectively). As shown in these tables, in order to avoid problems of endogeneity between independent and dependent variables we have also taken into account the first lag of each of the explanatory variables in the regressions. In fact, by taking the lagged explanatory variable we could solve causality problems which are common to capital flows analysis⁴⁷.

Concerning bond flows' pooled and fixed-effects regressions, we find that, excluding US industrial production and equity returns, the remaining explanatory variables are statistically significant. First, we obtained that a more favourable recommendation for a given country increases the allocation of bonds in that country. Second, as expected, there is a negative and significant impact of exchange rate depreciations, spreads of bonds and US interest rates on the allocation of bonds⁴⁸. As also expected and consistent with previous works and findings, there is a positive effect of economic activity and local interest rates⁴⁹ on bond flows to Latin American economies. Finally, the impact of the local inflation rate has the opposite direction that we would have expected.

By analysing *Push* variables, our results are consistent with the findings of Taylor and Sarno (1997). Indeed, "US interest rates explain the dynamics of bond flows better than the growth of US industrial production". With respect to the lack of significance of equity returns to explain bond flows, we obtained the same finding as Warther (1995), who pointed out for the US market that the correlation between stock returns and bond flows is negligible.

By differentiating between *Market* and *Rec* variables with *Real* and *Push* variables, the most important and relevant results are: (i) *Real* (equations 4 and 10 of Tables A1 and A2) and *Push* (equations 3 and 9 of Tables A1 and A2) variables do not have a prediction capability to explain independently bond flows; (ii) by analysing *Market* and *Rec* variables (equations 5 and 11 of Tables A1 and A2), the prediction power is superior to when we study only *Real* or *Push* variables. This result is similar to that exposed by Fornari and Levy (2000) which found that financial variables have a higher explanatory power than traditional macroeconomic variables.

Finally, the impact of *Rec* on bond flows is important and improves the fit of the regressions. Indeed, by including *Rec* as an explanatory variable of bond flows, the robustness of the results improve considerably when we analyse *Market*, *Real* and *Push* variables

^{47.} For instance concerning the relationship between equity flows and stock returns, financial researchers have obtained different conclusions concerning the causality of both variables. For example, see Warther (1995) for the case of the US equity market, Bekaert, Harvey and Lumsdaine (2002) for the dynamics of emerging equity flows and finally Froot, O'Connell and Seasholes (2001) for International portfolio flows.

^{48.} Concerning the exchange rate variable this result is above all valid for Pooled regressions.

^{49.} However t-statistics is not significant for local interest rates in Fixed Effect regressions.

simultaneously (by comparing equations 1 and 2, and also 7 and 8 of Tables A1 and A2) as well as when we studied only *Market* variables (by comparing equations 5 and 6, and also 11 and 12 of Tables A1 and A2).

The most important conclusion of bond flows analysis is that investment banks' recommendations are a fundamental variable to explain the allocation of bond flows in Latin American economies. Indeed, when we include this variable, among other variables previously studied in the literature, the fit of the regressions improves considerably. As noted before, by taking averages, the size of the bonds issued by countries are related to the recommendations. By taking into account this finding and the result of the estimations of equation (i), it is interesting for further research to study in more detail the dynamics properties of the recommendations.

In order to determine if there could be a "spill-over" effect of the recommendations given to sovereign external debt on equity flows we turn now to the second equation presented above.

The first result is that R-squared of the regressions in Pooled and Fixed Effects regressions are less robust than these obtained for Bond flows. However, we have obtained some important conclusions from this analysis.

As is the case of Bond flows, we found that "recommendations" is a positive and significant (in OLS and Fixed Effects regressions and by lagging or not that variable) explanatory variable to determine equity flows. This result is very interesting because it indicates that these recommendations, which are given for sovereign foreign bonds, influence an additional component of capital markets.

As before, US industrial production is not a significant variable to explain equity flows⁵⁰ and economic activity, local interest rate and inflation rate have a positive impact on equity flows⁵¹. In contrast to bond flows analysis, a higher rate of stocks in a country increases the allocation of equities flows in that emerging economy⁵².

The exchange rate and spreads of bonds continue to have a negative impact on capital flows. Concerning US interest rates, for OLS regressions, we obtained the same results that we have demonstrated for Bond flows (except when we regress only "push" variables). However, for Fixed Effects regressions, there is a positive and significant relationship between US interest rates and Equity flows. This controversial result could have different explanations.

One possible reason is that we have used the proportion of equity flows invested in an emerging economy (of the total invested in emerging economies) as a dependent variable instead of equity flows (in net or nominal terms) that is the standard view of capital flows analysis. It could be possible that the impact of an increase in US interest rates affects further other emerging equity markets (such as Asian markets), given that they could have been more sensitive in the past to US markets than Latin America.

^{50.} However when we analyse US industrial production at the same time as the dependent variable and in Fixed Effect regressions, there is a significance.

^{51.} Concerning economic activity variable this result is only valid for Pooled regressions.

^{52.} Nevertheless this relationship is not always significant.

Although *Push* variables are determinant to explain equity flows⁵³, investment banks' recommendations continue to improve the fit of the regressions. Indeed by including this new variable in the OLS and Fixed Effects regressions, the robustness of the results improves, first when we analyse *Market*, *Real* and *Push* variables simultaneously (by comparing equations 1 and 2, and also 7 and 8 of Tables B1 and B2), and second when we studied only *Market* variables (by comparing equations 5 and 6, and also 11 and 12 of Tables B1 and B2).

From this section we obtain some useful results. First, investment banks' recommendations given to external sovereign debt could be seen as a benchmark for investors concerning the total stock of securities of a country (by including equities, foreign sovereign debt, and private and public local debt). Indeed, although the result is less robust for the case of equity flows, we could conclude that "investment banks' recommendation" is an important determinant variable of cross-border private capital flows. Second, we found that this variable improves considerably the robustness of the regressions if we compare with cases of traditional macroeconomic variables.

^{53.} In particular see Fixed Effect regressions.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

Bond financing has become a major source of financing for emerging markets, replacing bank loans and other sources. This shift has been particularly impressive in Latin America where the ratio of debt securities to total international credit has been dominant since at least 1995. Analysing the dynamics of these markets is therefore a pressing necessity, particularly for Latin American emerging countries. This paper is a first attempt to enter the matrix.

In order to determine the possible macroeconomic implications of investment banks' recommendations, we have constructed a unique database covering the period 1997-2006 for all the bond recommendations by the major Wall Street and City investment banks that dominate the emerging bond markets. Indeed, we managed to build the database for 10 brokers, all of them dominant players in emerging bond markets as underwriters and from developed countries' brokerage houses, which are in fact the dominant market makers.

In order to investigate if investments banks' recommendations are related to the banks' business we first studied the structure of the primary bond market in Latin American countries and, second, the stock of bonds already issued by these countries and placed in the secondary market. The results presented are preliminary and it is necessary to complement this study by calculating the accuracy of these recommendations in terms of investment value. However our findings suggest that 90 per cent of the underwriters recommend, at the announcement date of the issue, to buy or to maintain in their portfolio the bonds issued by the countries where they are acting as lead managers. Indeed, given that only 10 per cent of the recommendations are negative, it is not possible to reject the hypothesis that brokers' research depends on the underwriting process in which investment banks are involved.

Second, investment banks' recommendations are correlated with the relative size of the secondary bond market, phenomenon that we call "too big to underweight". Indeed, investment banks will not send negative signals to investors of countries or governments that are considered to be strategic for their business given their size in the market (e.g. Brazil and Mexico vs. Chile or Uruguay). Therefore, it seems that credit risk is not a relevant variable to determine the direction of the recommendations.

Given that these results could not reject the hypothesis that signals sent by investments banks' to investors are imperfect, we have studied a possible effect of these recommendations on emerging economies.

For this purpose, by using a panel data analysis, we introduced recommendations as a new variable that could explain capital flows towards emerging economies. The most important results are as follows. First, the impact of the recommendations given to external public debt

goes beyond sovereign bond flows. Indeed, although their influence is minor, these recommendations also affect private equity flows. Second, the impact of investment banks' recommendations on capital flows is positive and significant. Third, this microeconomic variable improves the fit of capital flows regressions more than some traditional macroeconomic variables such as interest rates, economic growth and inflation rate.

The three major policy lessons that follow from this research are that there is a need for more detailed information disclosure by investment banks in order to determine if past recommendations are related to macroeconomic variables and financial variables or whether they are associated with their business in emerging economies. Second, government agencies should do strategic monitoring on what market is writing about their respective country's vulnerabilities. They could survey how cognitive maps are changing within financial markets and process the information for acting and curbing perceptions. Finally, given that banks' recommendations and portfolio flows are related, an international co-operation scheme needs to be established to encourage investment banks to cover more countries.

In summary, investment banks' recommendations are a microeconomic and perhaps an "imperfect" variable that explain, among other variables, capital movements and therefore could affect emerging economies' business cycles. The new database developed in this paper is a useful and powerful tool to understand banks' and investors' behaviour. Therefore, it could be used for further research. It would be useful to use such a database in order to assess the impact of political electoral cycles on broker's recommendations. Elections are key institutions of emerging democracies but how are they monitored by bankers and financial markets? Is there a specific pattern around elections that drives brokers and flows up and down, pushes interest rates higher or contributes to slumps in the foreign exchange markets? Has this pattern changed over the years? Some research has already been devoted to these issues (Santiso, 2006) but the new database constructed for this paper points to other useful directions for research.

Another potential line of research would be to focus not only on international emerging bond markets but also on domestic bond markets. In recent years, domestic bond markets became an increasing source of financing for Latin American economies. As a result of this trend, global investors reallocated part of their portfolios towards domestic securities, while local pension and institutional players became increasingly powerful. It would be interesting therefore to pay more attention to the information dynamics of these local bond markets and check, for example, if the asymmetries found for international ones are replicated at the local level. For that we should complete the broker's database and include the local brokers.

ANNEX 1. DESCRIPTION OF THE INVESTMENT BANKS' PUBLICATIONS

| Institution | Name of the Publication | Periodicity | Start Date |
|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------|------------------|
| ABN AMRO | Emerging Markets Fortnightly | Bi-weekly | Jan-04 |
| BARCLAYS Capital | LatAm Drivers Fortnightly | Bi-weekly | Feb-04 |
| Citigroup (Citi-Salomon Brothers) | Economics/Strategy | Monthly | Jul-97 |
| CSFB (now Credit Suisse) | Debt Trading Monthly | Monthly | May-01 |
| Deutsche Bank | Emerging Markets Monthly | Monthly | Sep-01 to Dec-05 |
| Goldman Sachs | Emerging Markets Strategy | Bi-weekly | Aug-01 to Aug-03 |
| J.P. Morgan | Emerging Markets Outlook and Strategy | Monthly | Jan-01 |
| Lehman brothers | Emerging Markets Compass | Bi-weekly | Sep-04 |
| Merrill Lynch | Emerging Markets Debt Monthly | Monthly | Feb-03 |
| Morgan Stanley | EMD Perspectives Quarterly | Quarterly | 1Q-00 |

ANNEX 2. CITIGROUP RECOMMENDATIONS. MARCH 22, 2006

| Emerging Market Recomme | endations | | |
|----------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| Figure 39. Emerging Debt a | nd Currency Market | s – Local and Exter | nal Market Recommendations |
| | Local Marke | et Instruments* | Sovereign Foreign- |
| Country | Currency | Interest Rates | Denominated Bonds |
| Latin America | | | |
| Argentina | | | Overweight |
| Brazil | + | | Overweight |
| Chile | - | | Underweight |
| Colombia | + | - | Neutral |
| Dominican Republic | + | | Neutral |
| Ecuador | | | Underweight |
| El Salvador | | | Neutral |
| Mexico | + | | Underweight |
| Panama | | | Overweight |
| Peru | | | Neutral |
| Venezuela | | | Overweight |
| Europe | | | |
| Bulgaria | | | Underweight |
| Czech Republic | + | - | Neutral |
| Hungary | - | - | Underweight |
| Poland | + | + | Neutral |
| Romania | + | - | Neutral |
| Russia | + | | Overweight |
| Slovak Republic | + | - | NA |
| Turkey | + | | Neutral |
| Ukraine | | - | Underweight |
| Africa/Middle East | | | <i></i> |
| Algeria | | | Overweight |
| Côte d'Ivoire | | | Underweight |
| Egypt | + | | Neutral |
| Israel | + | + | NA |
| Nigeria | | | Neutral |
| South Africa | | | Neutral |
| Asia | | | |
| China | | | Neutral |
| India | | | NA |
| Indonesia | + | | Overweight |
| Korea | + | | Underweight |
| Malavsia | | | Neutral |
| Philippines | - | + | Neutral |
| Taiwan | | | NA |
| Thailand | + | | NA |
| Vietnam | | | Overweight |

* For currencies and interest rates "+" the instrument is likely to outperform forward markets; "-" the instrument is likely to underperform forward markets over the next 3-6 months, where market forwards are available; otherwise the symbols represent directional calls.

Source: Citigroup.

| Dependent variable: Bond | | | | | Pooled R | egression | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|------------|-----------------|---------|-----------|------------|----------------|-----------|-----------|---------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| | Ι | II | III | IV | V | VI | VII | VIII | IX | Х | XI | XII |
| Recommendations | 5.395*** | | | | 5.206*** | | | | | | | |
| | (10.96) | | | | (9.2) | | | | | | | |
| Exchange Rate (Market) | -0.0056*** | -0.0048^{***} | | | -0.0026*** | -0.0022*** | | | | | | |
| | (-13.16) | (-9.7) | | | (-9.23) | (-6.98) | | | | | | |
| Spread (Market) | -0.182*** | -0.22*** | | | -0.070*** | -0.104^{***} | | | | | | |
| | (-10.7) | (-11.24) | | | (-4.35) | (-5.88) | | | | | | |
| Stock (Market) | -0.0085 | -0.0110 | | | 0.0003 | 0.0011 | | | | | | |
| | (-1.38) | (-1.52) | | | (0.06) | (0.16) | | | | | | |
| Inflation rate (Real) | 0.065*** | 0.056*** | | -0.022*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (7.76) | (5.7) | | (-3.51) | | | | | | | | |
| Economic Activity (Real) | 0.178*** | 0.266*** | | 0.044 | | | | | | | | |
| | (4.21) | (5.47) | | (0.87) | | | | | | | | |
| Interest rate (Real) | 0.224*** | 0.243*** | | 0.063** | | | | | | | | |
| | (9.99) | (9.25) | | (2.4) | | | | | | | | |
| US interest rate (Push) | -0.531** | -0.789** | 0.071 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-1.96) | (-2.49) | (0.19) | | | | | | | | | |
| US ind. production (Push) | -0.042 | -0.179 | -0.044 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-0.32) | (-1.17) | (-0.24) | | | | | | | | | |
| Recommendations -1 | | | | | | | 5.349*** | | | | 5.143*** | |
| | | | | | | | (10.87) | | | | (9.09) | |
| Exchange Rate -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.006*** | -0.005*** | | | -0.003*** | -0.002*** |
| | | | | | | | (-12.88) | (-9.59) | | | (-9.02) | (-6.98) |
| Spread -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.173*** | -0.210*** | | | -0.066*** | -0.102*** |
| | | | | | | | (-10.22) | (-10.84) | | | (-4.07) | (-5.79) |
| Stock -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.0108* | -0.0140* | | | -0.0004 | 0.0015 |
| | | | | | | | (-1.72) | (-1.91) | | | (-0.07) | (0.22) |
| Inflation rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.066*** | 0.057*** | | -0.022*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (7.75) | (5.76) | | (-3.47) | | |
| Economic Activity -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.154*** | 0.238*** | | 0.053 | | |
| | | | | | | | (3.55) | (4.74) | | (1.08) | | |
| Interest rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.215*** | 0.231*** | | 0.060** | | |
| | | | | | | | (9.7) | (8.92) | | (2.34) | | |
| US interest rate -1 (Push) | | | | | | | -0.618** | -0.747** | 0.036 | | | |
| | | | | | | | (-2.27) | (-2.34) | (0.1) | | | |
| US ind. production -1 | | | | | | | 0.215 | 0.210 | 0.123 | | | |
| (Push) | | | | | | | (1.55) | (1.29) | (0.69) | | | |
| Cons | 7.75*** | 8.85*** | 6.26*** | 5.97*** | 8.28*** | 8.89*** | 7.45*** | 7.99*** | 5.92*** | 5.95*** | 8.26*** | 8.88*** |
| | (9.05) | (8.86) | (5.54) | (10.21) | (19.59) | (18.97) | (11) | (10.1) | (7.58) | (10.26) | (19.49) | (18.93) |
| N (Observations) | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 |
| Adjusted R-squared | 0.54 | 0.36 | -0.01 | 0.05 | 0.35 | 0.17 | 0.53 | 0.35 | 0.00 | 0.05 | 0.34 | 0.17 |

ANNEX 3. TABLE A1

t-statistics are in parentheses denoting *** 1%, ** 5% and * 10% significance.

ANNEX 4. TABLE A2

| Dependent variable: Bond | | | | | Fixed Ef | fects | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| • | Ι | II | III | IV | V | VI | VII | VIII | IX | Х | XI | XII |
| Recommendations | 1.112*** | | - | | 1.120*** | | | | | | | |
| | (8.08) | | | | (8.35) | | | | | | | |
| Exchange Rate (Market) | 0.001*** | 0.002*** | | | 0.002*** | 0.003*** | | | | | | |
| | (4.0) | (5.1) | | | (5.21) | (7.23) | | | | | | |
| Spread (Market) | -0.078*** | -0.103*** | | | -0.066*** | -0.093*** | | | | | | |
| | (-9.48) | (-12.24) | | | (-9.25) | (-13.17) | | | | | | |
| Stock (Market) | -0.0004 | -0.0014 | | | 0.0022* | 0.0018 | | | | | | |
| | (-0.27) | (-0.81) | | | (1.77) | (1.35) | | | | | | |
| Inflation rate (Real) | 0.021** | 0.016 | | 0.007 | | | | | | | | |
| | (2.14) | (1.47) | | (0.6) | | | | | | | | |
| Economic Activity (Real) | 0.033*** | 0.035*** | | 0.036*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (3.25) | (3.08) | | (3.08) | | | | | | | | |
| Interest rate (Real) | 0.009 | 0.000 | | -0.034*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (1.22) | (0) | | (-3.87) | | | | | | | | |
| US interest rate (Push) | -0.186*** | -0.288*** | 0.071 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-2.83) | (-4.05) | (0.83) | | | | | | | | | |
| US ind. production (Push) | -0.051* | -0.072** | -0.044 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-1.66) | (-2.11) | (-1.08) | | | | | | | | | |
| Recommendations -1 | | | | | | | 1.062*** | | | | 1.095*** | |
| | | | | | | | (7.47) | | | | (7.89) | |
| Exchange Rate -1 (Market) | | | | | | | 0.001*** | 0.002*** | | | 0.002*** | 0.003*** |
| | | | | | | | (4.07) | (5.22) | | | (5.22) | (7.18) |
| Spread -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.072*** | -0.096*** | | | -0.062*** | -0.088*** |
| | | | | | | | (-8.01) | (-10.38) | | | (-7.79) | (-11.26) |
| Stock -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.002 | -0.004** | | | 0.002 | 0.002 |
| | | | | | | | (-1.35) | (-2.01) | | | (1.51) | (1.19) |
| Inflation rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.024** | 0.024** | | 0.009 | | |
| | | | | | | | (2.45) | (2.24) | | (0.75) | | |
| Economic Activity -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.034*** | 0.037*** | | 0.039*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (3.1) | (3.14) | | (3.42) | | |
| Interest rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.005 | -0.005 | | -0.034*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (0.64) | (-0.65) | | (-3.9) | | |
| US interest rate -1 (Push) | | | | | | | -0.173** | -0.254*** | 0.036 | | | |
| | | | | | | | (-2.45) | (-3.35) | (0.44) | | | |
| US ind. production -1 (Push) | | | | | | | 0.026 | 0.023 | 0.123*** | | | |
| | | | | | | | (0.8) | (0.64) | (3.09) | | | |
| Cons | 5.634*** | 6.188*** | 6.264*** | 6.332*** | 5.539*** | 5.393*** | 5.376*** | 5.687*** | 5.921*** | 6.286*** | 5.472*** | 5.332*** |
| | (12.23) | (12.35) | (24.55) | (18.71) | (22) | (19.44) | (13.62) | (13.34) | (33.97) | (19.35) | (21) | (18.76) |
| N (Observations) | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 | 322 |
| Adjusted K-squared | 0.57 | 0.48 | 0.01 | 0.16 | 0.54 | () 44 | 0.52 | 0.43 | 0.03 | 0.17 | 0.49 | 0.39 |

t-statistics are in parentheses denoting *** 1%, ** 5% and * 10% significance.

ANNEX 5. TABLE B1

| Dependent variable: Equity | | | | | Pooled R | egression | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| | Ι | П | III | IV | V | VI | VII | VIII | IX | Х | XI | XII |
| Recommendations | 2.334*** | | | | 2.231*** | | | | | | | |
| | (9.99) | | | | (8.63) | | | | | | | |
| Exchange Rate (Market) | -0.005*** | -0.005*** | | | -0.003*** | -0.003*** | | | | | | |
| | (-17.43) | (-15.57) | | | (-15.83) | (-15.64) | | | | | | |
| Spread (Market) | -0.144*** | -0.166*** | | | -0.069*** | -0.095*** | | | | | | |
| | (-11.59) | (-12.54) | | | (-5.9) | (-7.85) | | | | | | |
| Stock (Market) | 0.005 | 0.011** | | | 0.003 | 0.008** | | | | | | |
| | (1.11) | (2.51) | | | (0.94) | (2.24) | | | | | | |
| Inflation rate (Real) | 0.054*** | 0.048*** | | -0.032*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (9.31) | (7.66) | | (-8.75) | | | | | | | | |
| Economic Activity (Real) | 0.105*** | 0.116*** | | 0.070*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (4.34) | (4.5) | | (2.6) | | | | | | | | |
| Interest rate (Real) | 0.128*** | 0.128*** | | 0.063*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (9.96) | (9.33) | | (4.41) | | | | | | | | |
| US interest rate (Push) | -0.262*** | -0.205** | 0.345*** | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-3.42) | (-2.48) | (3.97) | | | | | | | | | |
| US ind. production (Push) | -0.086* | -0.094* | -0.009 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-1.7) | (-1.72) | (-0.16) | | | | | | | | | |
| Recommendations -1 | | | | | | | 2.370*** | | | | 2.276*** | |
| | | | | | | | (10.18) | | | | (8.79) | |
| Exchange Rate -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.005*** | -0.005*** | | | -0.003*** | -0.003*** |
| | | | | | | | (-17.57) | (-15.63) | | | (-15.75) | (-15.62) |
| Spread -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.144*** | -0.168*** | | | -0.068*** | -0.095*** |
| | | | | | | | (-11.7) | (-12.62) | | | (-5.79) | (-7.81) |
| Stock -1 (Market) | | | | | | | 0.003 | 0.010** | | | 0.003 | 0.009** |
| | | | | | | | (0.81) | (2.49) | | | (0.92) | (2.47) |
| Inflation rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.057*** | 0.051*** | | -0.032*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (9.63) | (7.92) | | (-8.72) | | |
| Economic Activity -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.116*** | 0.127*** | | 0.079*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (4.8) | (4.89) | | (2.94) | | |
| Interest rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.131*** | 0.131*** | | 0.066*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (10.24) | (9.55) | | (4.64) | | |
| US interest rate -1 (Push) | | | | | | | -0.231*** | -0.169* | 0.308*** | | | |
| | | | | | | | (-2.8) | (-1.87) | (3.25) | | | |
| US ind. production -1 | | | | | | | -0.061 | -0.063 | 0.057 | | | |
| (Push) | | | | | | | (-1.38) | (-1.3) | (1.06) | | | |
| Cons | 4.820*** | 5.051*** | 2.243*** | 3.188*** | 5.185*** | 5.706*** | 4.594*** | 4.799*** | 2.195*** | 3.113*** | 5.147*** | 5.682*** |
| | (12.61) | (12.23) | (5.72) | (10.23) | (24.39) | (26.06) | (12.33) | (11.77) | (6.19) | (9.98) | (24.2) | (25.88) |
| N (Observations) | 657 | 691 | 721 | 714 | 660 | 698 | 650 | 689 | 721 | 713 | 653 | 697 |
| Adjusted R-squared | 0.48 | 0.40 | 0.02 | 0.12 | 0.35 | 0.28 | 0.49 | 0.41 | 0.02 | 0.12 | 0.35 | 0.28 |

t-statistics are in parentheses denoting *** 1%, ** 5% and * 10% significance.

ANNEX 6. TABLE B2

| Dependent variable: Equity | | | | | Fixed Effe | ects | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|----------|------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----------|------------|------------|-----------|
| • • • | Ι | II | III | IV | V | VI | VII | VIII | IX | Х | XI | XII |
| Recommendations | 0.518*** | | | | 0.579*** | | | | | | | |
| | (5.9) | | | | (6.07) | | | | | | | |
| Exchange Rate (Market) | 0.0002 | 0.0005*** | | | -0.0005*** | -0.0004** | | | | | | |
| | (1.18) | (2.58) | | | (-3.01) | (-2.34) | | | | | | |
| Spread (Market) | -0.031*** | -0.034*** | | | -0.036*** | -0.043*** | | | | | | |
| | (-5.44) | (-5.6) | | | (-6.88) | (-7.89) | | | | | | |
| Stock (Market) | 0.0039** | 0.0055*** | | | -0.0009 | 0.0003 | | | | | | |
| | (2.57) | (3.61) | | | (-0.74) | (0.26) | | | | | | |
| Inflation rate (Real) | 0.013** | 0.007 | | -0.005 | | | | | | | | |
| | (2.33) | (1.26) | | (-1.05) | | | | | | | | |
| Economic Activity (Real) | 0.006 | 0.007 | | 0.022** | | | | | | | | |
| | (0.67) | (0.79) | | (2.36) | | | | | | | | |
| Interest rate (Real) | 0.024*** | 0.025*** | | 0.018*** | | | | | | | | |
| | (3.83) | (3.91) | | (2.96) | | | | | | | | |
| US interest rate (Push) | 0.307*** | 0.34*** | 0.345*** | | | | | | | | | |
| | (10.39) | (11.26) | (14.34) | | | | | | | | | |
| US ind. production (Push) | -0.039** | -0.045** | -0.009 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (-2.16) | (-2.41) | (-0.56) | | | | | | | | | |
| Recommendations -1 | | | | | | | 0.58*** | | | | 0.640*** | |
| | | | | | | | (6.67) | | | | (6.72) | |
| Exchange Rate -1 (Market) | | | | | | | 0.0002 | 0.0006*** | | | -0.0006*** | -0.0004** |
| | | | | | | | (1.14) | (2.7) | | | (-3.06) | (-2.43) |
| Spread -1 (Market) | | | | | | | -0.032*** | -0.033*** | | | -0.035*** | -0.042*** |
| | | | | | | | (-5.57) | (-5.50) | | | (-6.71) | (-7.86) |
| Stock -1 (Market) | | | | | | | 0.002 | 0.004*** | | | -0.001 | 0.001 |
| | | | | | | | (1.37) | (2.6) | | | (-0.62) | (0.90) |
| Inflation rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.016*** | 0.009* | | -0.004 | | |
| | | | | | | | (2.92) | (1.73) | | (-0.81) | | |
| Economic Activity -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.011 | 0.010 | | 0.027*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (1.24) | (1.14) | | (2.99) | | |
| Interest rate -1 (Real) | | | | | | | 0.027*** | 0.026*** | | 0.021*** | | |
| | | | | | | | (4.33) | (4.06) | | (3.46) | | |
| US interest rate -1 (Push) | | | | | | | 0.287*** | 0.323*** | 0.308*** | | | |
| | | | | | | | (9.25) | (10.06) | (11.9) | | | |
| US ind. production -1 (Push) | | | | | | | 0.015 | 0.027* | 0.057*** | | | |
| | 4 500 | | 0.040*** | 0.000*** | 0.050*** | 1.000 | (0.98) | (1.65) | (3.86) | 0.04 (**** | 0.000*** | |
| Cons | 1.729*** | 1.717*** | 2.243*** | 3.303*** | 3.970*** | 4.083*** | 1.570*** | 1.540*** | 2.195*** | 3.216*** | 3.939*** | 4.071*** |
| | (8.09) | (7.8) | (20.65) | (19.94) | (33.56) | (34.99) | (7.55) | (7.17) | (22.64) | (19.55) | (33.41) | (35.17) |
| N (Observations) | 657 | 691 | 721 | 714 | 660 | 698 | 650 | 689 | 721 | 713 | 653 | 697 |
| Adjusted K-squared | 0.32 | 0.28 | 0.23 | 0.01 | 0.13 | 0.09 | 0.33 | 0.29 | 0.25 | 0.02 | 0.14 | 0.09 |

t-statistics are in parentheses denoting *** 1%, ** 5% and * 10% significance.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ALFARO, L., S. KALEMLI-OZCAN and V. VOLOSOVYCH (2005), "Capital Flows in a Globalized World: The Role of Policies and Institutions", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 11696, October.
- ASQUITH, P., M. MIKHAIL and A. AU (2005), "Information content of equity analyst reports", *Journal of Financial Economics*, 75 (2), pp. 245-282, February.
- BACMANN, J. F. and G. BOLLIGER (2001), "Who are the best? Local versus foreign analysts on the Latin American stock markets", University of Neuchâtel, Institut de l'Entreprise (unpublished), November.
- BAE, K-H, R. STULZ and H. TAN (2005), "Do local analysts know more? A cross-country study of the performance of local analysts and foreign analysts", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 11697, October. Available at: http://www.darden.virginia. edu/em/PDFs/Stulz_Rene.pdf
- BARBER, B., R. LEHAVY and B. TRUEMAN (2000), "Are all brokerage houses created equal? Testing for systematic differences in the performance of brokerage house stock recommendations", University of California at Davis and University of California at Berkeley (unpublished), March.
- BARBER, B., R. LEHAVY, M. MCNICHOLS and B. TRUEMAN (2001*a*), "Can investors profit from the prophets ? Security analyst recommendations and stock returns", *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 56, No. 2, pp. 531-563, April.
- BARBER, B., R. LEHAVY, M. MCNICHOLS and B. TRUEMAN (2001*b*), "Prophets and losses: reassessing the returns to analysts' stock recommendations", Stanford University, Graduate School of Business Research Paper Series, No. 1692 (unpublished), May.
- BEKAERT G., C.R. HARVEY and R.L. LUMSDAINE (2002), "The dynamics of emerging market equity flows" Journal of International Money and Finance, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 295-350, June.
- Bloomberg Markets, April 2006, "The Bloomberg 20. The World's best-paid investment banks".
- BOLLIGER, G. (2004), "The characteristics of individual analysts' forecasts in Europe", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 28, No. 9, pp. 2283-2309, September.
- BONI, L. and K. WOMACK (2002), "Wall Street's Credibility Problem: Misaligned Incentives and Dubious Fixes", Financial Institutions Center 02-04, Wharton School, February. Available at: http://fic.wharton.upenn.edu/fic/papers/02/0204.pdf
- BOOT, J., W. FEIBES and J. LISMAN (1967), "Further Methods of Derivation of Quarterly Figures from Annual Data", *Applied Statistics*, Vol. 16, pp. 65-75.
- BRADSHAW, M. (2000), "How do analysts use their forecasts?", Harvard Business School Working Paper, (unpublished).

- BRAV, A. and R. LEHAVY (2003), "An empirical analysis of analysis' target prices: short term informativeness and long term dynamics", *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. 58, No. 5, pp. 1933-1967.
- BROWN, L., A. HUGON and F. LIYU LUO (2006), "Are two heads better than one? The case of analyst forecast accuracy", Georgia State University (unpublished).
- CALVO, G.A. (1998), "Capital Flows and Capital-Market Crises: The Simple Economics of Sudden Stops." *Journal of Applied Economics*, Vol 1. No. 1, pp. 35-54, November.
- CALVO, G. A., L. LEIDERMAN and C.M. REINHART (1993), "Capital Inflows and the Real Exchange Rate Appreciation in Latin America: The Role of External Factors", IMF Staff Papers Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 108-151, March.
- CHANG, C. (2003), "Information footholds: expatriate analysts in an emerging market", Haas Business School, University of California at Berkeley (unpublished).
- CHANG, J., T. KHANNA and K. PALEPU (2000), "Analyst activity around the world", Harvard Business School, Strategy Working paper Series (unpublished).
- CHOE, H., B-C. KHO and R. STULZ (2005), "Do domestic investors have an edge? The trading experience of foreign investors in Korea", *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 18, pp. 795-829.
- CHUHAN P., S. CLAESSENS and N. MAMINGI (1993), "Equity and Bond Flows to Asia and Latin America: The Role of Global and Country Factors" International Economics Department, World Bank WPS 1160, July.
- DORNBUSCH, R., I. GOLDFAJN and R. VALDÉS (1995), "Currency Crises and Collapses", *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Vol 2, pp. 219–93.
- DVORAK, T. (2005), "Do domestic investors have an information advantage? Evidence from Indonesia", *The Journal of Finance*, 60, pp. 817-839.
- EDWARDS, S. and J. FRANKEL, eds. (2002), *Preventing Currency Crises in Emerging Markets*, University of Chicago Press.
- EICHENGREEN B., P. GUPTA and A. MODY (2006), "Sudden Stops and IMF-Supported Programs", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. W12235, May.
- FENG, L. and M. SEASHOLES (2003), "A profile of individual investors in an emerging stock market", Harvard Business School and University of California at Berkeley (unpublished).
- FERNÁNDEZ-ARIAS, E. (1996), "The New Wave of Capital Inflows: Push or Pull?", *Journal of Development Economics*, 48, pp. 389–418.
- FLANDREAU, M. and F. ZUMER (2004), The Making of GlobalFfinance, 1880-1913, OECD, Paris.
- FLANDREAU, M., C-L. HOLTFRERICH and H. JAMES, eds. (2003), International Financial History in the Ttwentieth Century, System and Anarchy, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- FLORES, J. (2006), "A microeconomic analysis of the Baring crisis, 1880-1890", Forthcoming Working Paper in Economics History, Carlos III University.
- FORNARI, F. and A. LEVY (2000), "Global liquidity in the 1990s: geographical allocation and long-run determinants", presented in the International financial markets and the implications for monetary and financial stability (BIS Conference Papers No. 8), March. Available at: http://www.bis.org/publ/confer08a.pdf

- FROOT, K., P. G. J. O'CONNELL, and M. S. SEASHOLES (2001), "The portfolio flows of international investors", *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 59, No. 2, pp. 151-193
- GELOS, G., R. SAHAY and G. SANDLERIS (2004), "Sovereign Borrowing by Developing Countries: What Determines Market Access?", IMF Working Paper 04/221, November.
- GHOSH, S., and H. WOLF (1999), "The geography of capital flows", *in*:Edwards, S. (Ed.), *Capital Inflows to Emerging Markets*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- GRANDES, M. (2002) "Convergence and Divergence of Sovereign Bond Spreads: Lessons from Latin America", OECD Development Centre Working Paper No. 200, October.
- GRANDES, M., N. PINAUD and H. REISEN (2005) "Macroeconomic Policies: New Issues of Interdependence", OECD Development Centre Working Paper No. 241, January.
- GRIGORIAN, D. (2003) "On The Determinants of First-Time Sovereign Bond Issues", *IMF Working Paper* 03/184, September.
- HAUSMAN, J.A. (1978), "Specification Tests in Econometrics," Econometrica, vol 46, No. 6, pp. 1251-1271.
- HIRST, E., L. KOONCE and P. SIMKO (1995), "Investor reactions to financial analysts" research reports." *Journal of Accounting Research*, 33, pp. 335-351.
- JACKSON, A. (2005), "Trade Generation, Reputation, and Sell-Side Analysts", *The Journal of Finance*, LX (2): 673-717.
- JEANNEAU, S. and M. MICU (2002), "Determinants of International Bank Lending to Emerging Countries", BIS Working Papers, No. 112.
- JEGADEESH, N., J. KIM, S. KRISCHE and C. LEE (2004), "Analyzing analysts: when do recommendations add value?", *The Journal of Finance*, 59, pp. 1083-1124.
- JP Morgan Securities, Emerging Markets Research (December 2004), "EMBI Global and EMBI Global Diversified. Rules and Methodology", JP Morgan Securities, New York.
- KAMINSKY, G., R. LYONS and S. SCHMUKLER (2004), "Managers, investors, and crises: mutual fund strategies in emerging markets", *Journal of International Economics*, 64:1, pp. 113-134.
- KRIGMAN, L., W. SHAW and K. WOMACK (2001), "Why Do Firms Switch Underwriters?", Journal of Financial Economics, 60, pp. 245-284.
- LAFFONT, J-J. and D. MARTIMORT (2002), The Theory of Incentives, Princeton Unversity Press.
- MAURO, P., N. SUSSMAN and Y. YAFEH (2006), *Emerging Markets and Financial Globalization Sovereign Bond* Spreads in 1870-1913 and Today, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MAURO, P., N. SUSSMAN and Y. YAFEH (2002), "Emerging market spreads: then versus now", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 117, No. 2, pp. 695-733. Available at: <u>http://bschool.huji.ac.il/facultye/yafeh/</u>
- MICHAELY R. and K. WOMACK (1999), "Conflict of interest and the credibility of underwriter analyst recommendations", *Review of Financial Studies*, 12, 1999, pp. 653-686.
- MIKHAIL, M., B. WALTHER and R. WILLIS (2005), "When security analysts talks who listens?", (unpublished).
- ORPURT, S. (2004), "Local analyst earnings forecast advantages in Europe", University of Chicago (unpublished).
- PAPAIOANNOU, E. (2004*a*), "What drives international bank flows? Politics, Institutions & Other determinants" mimeo, London Business School

- PAPAIOANNOU, E. (2004b), "What Drives International Bank Flows? Politics, Institutions and Other Determinants", Economics Department, Working Paper, London Business School, October (unpublished).
- PORTES, R. and H. REY (2005), "The Determinants of Cross-Border Equity Transaction Flows," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 65, pp. 269-296.
- PRASAD, E., K. ROGOFF, S-J. WEI and M.A. KOSE (2003), "Effects of Financial Globalization on Developing Countries: Some Empirical Evidence," *IMF Occasional Paper* No.220, September.
- RAMNATH, S., S. ROCK and P. SHANE (2006), "A review of research related to financial analysts' forecasts and stock recommendations", Georgetown University and Leeds Business School (unpublished).
- SANTISO, J. (2006), "Wall Street and emerging democracies: financial markets and the Brazilian presidential elections", in L. SOLA and L. WHITEHEAD, eds., Central Banking and Monetary Policy in New Democracies, with Special Reference to Brazil, Center for Brazilian Studies, Oxford, pp. 269-323.
- SANTISO, J. (2003), *The Political Economy of Emerging Markets: Actors, Institutions and Financial Crises in Latin America,* Palgrave Macmillan, New York.
- SANTISO, J. (1999), "Analysts Analyzed: A Socio-economic Approach to Financial and Emerging Markets", International Political Science Review, July, 20, pp. 307-330.
- SEASHOLES, M. (2004), "Re-examining information asymmetries in emerging stock markets", University of California at Berkeley (unpublished).
- SEASHOLES, M. (2000), "Smart foreign traders in emerging markets", Harvard Business School (unpublished). Available at: http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/mss/
- SECURITIES INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION (2001), Best practices for research, SIA, New York and Washington.
- TAYLOR, M. P. and L. SARNO (1997), "Capital Flows to Developing Countries: Long- and Short-Term Determinants", *The World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 451-70
- TOMZ, M. (2001), "How do reputations form? New and seasoned borrowers in international capital markets", Stanford University, Department of Political Science (unpublished). Available at: http://www.stanford.edu/~tomz/
- UNGER, L. (2001), "Testimony concerning conflicts of interest faced by brokerage firms and their research analysts", Testimony before the US House of Representatives Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises, Committee on Financial Services, July. Available at: http://www.sec.gov/news/testimony/073101tslu.htm and http://www.house.gov/financialservices/080201lu.pdf
- Wall Street Journal, July 25 2001, "Credit Suisse limits holdings of its analysts", at C14.
- Wall Street Journal, July 11 2001, "Merrill alters a policy on analysts", at C2.
- WARTHER, V. A. (1995), "Aggregate mutual fund flows and security returns". *Journal of Financial Economics*, 39, pp. 209-235.
- WOMACK, K. (1996), "Do brokerage analysts' recommendations have investment value?", *The Journal of Finance*, LI (1): 137-167.
- ZUCKERMAN, E. (2000), "Focusing the corporate product: securities analysts and de-diversification", *Administrative Science Quarterly*, No. 45, pp. 591-619.

OTHER TITLES IN THE SERIES/ AUTRES TITRES DANS LA SÉRIE

The former series known as "Technical Papers" and "Webdocs" merged in November 2003 into "Development Centre Working Papers". In the new series, former Webdocs 1-17 follow former Technical Papers 1-212 as Working Papers 213-229.

All these documents may be downloaded from: http://www.oecd.org/dev/wp or obtained via e-mail (dev.contact@oecd.org).

Working Paper No.1, Macroeconomic Adjustment and Income Distribution: A Macro-Micro Simulation Model, by François Bourguignon, William H. Branson and Jaime de Melo, March 1989.

Working Paper No. 2, International Interactions in Food and Agricultural Policies: The Effect of Alternative Policies, by Joachim Zietz and Alberto Valdés, April, 1989.

Working Paper No. 3, The Impact of Budget Retrenchment on Income Distribution in Indonesia: A Social Accounting Matrix Application, by Steven Keuning and Erik Thorbecke, June 1989.

Working Paper No. 3a, Statistical Annex: The Impact of Budget Retrenchment, June 1989.

Document de travail No. 4, *Le Rééquilibrage entre le secteur public et le secteur privé : le cas du Mexique*, par C.-A. Michalet, juin 1989. Working Paper No. 5, *Rebalancing the Public and Private Sectors: The Case of Malaysia*, by R. Leeds, July 1989.

Working Paper No. 6, Efficiency, Welfare Effects, and Political Feasibility of Alternative Antipoverty and Adjustment Programs, by Alain de Janvry and Elisabeth Sadoulet, December 1989.

Document de travail No. 7, Ajustement et distribution des revenus : application d'un modèle macro-micro au Maroc, par Christian Morrisson, avec la collaboration de Sylvie Lambert et Akiko Suwa, décembre 1989.

Working Paper No. 8, Emerging Maize Biotechnologies and their Potential Impact, by W. Burt Sundquist, December 1989.

Document de travail No. 9, Analyse des variables socio-culturelles et de l'ajustement en Côte d'Ivoire, par W. Weekes-Vagliani, janvier 1990. Working Paper No. 10, A Financial Computable General Equilibrium Model for the Analysis of Ecuador's Stabilization Programs, by André Fargeix and Elisabeth Sadoulet, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 11, Macroeconomic Aspects, Foreign Flows and Domestic Savings Performance in Developing Countries: A "State of The Art" Report, by Anand Chandavarkar, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 12, Tax Revenue Implications of the Real Exchange Rate: Econometric Evidence from Korea and Mexico, by Viriginia Fierro and Helmut Reisen, February 1990.

Working Paper No. 13, Agricultural Growth and Economic Development: The Case of Pakistan, by Naved Hamid and Wouter Tims, April 1990.

Working Paper No. 14, Rebalancing the Public and Private Sectors in Developing Countries: The Case of Ghana, by H. Akuoko-Frimpong, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 15, Agriculture and the Economic Cycle: An Economic and Econometric Analysis with Special Reference to Brazil, by Florence Contré and Ian Goldin, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 16, Comparative Advantage: Theory and Application to Developing Country Agriculture, by Ian Goldin, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 17, Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Brazil, by Bernardo Sorj and John Wilkinson, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 18, *Economic Policies and Sectoral Growth: Argentina 1913-1984*, by Yair Mundlak, Domingo Cavallo, Roberto Domenech, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 19, *Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize In Mexico*, by Jaime A. Matus Gardea, Arturo Puente Gonzalez and Cristina Lopez Peralta, June 1990.

Working Paper No. 20, *Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Thailand,* by Suthad Setboonsarng, July 1990. Working Paper No. 21, *International Comparisons of Efficiency in Agricultural Production*, by Guillermo Flichmann, July 1990.

Working Paper No. 22, Unemployment in Developing Countries: New Light on an Old Problem, by David Turnham and Denizhan Eröcal, July 1990.

Working Paper No. 23, Optimal Currency Composition of Foreign Debt: the Case of Five Developing Countries, by Pier Giorgio Gawronski, August 1990.

Working Paper No. 24, From Globalization to Regionalization: the Mexican Case, by Wilson Peres Núñez, August 1990.

Working Paper No. 25, *Electronics and Development in Venezuela: A User-Oriented Strategy and its Policy Implications*, by Carlota Perez, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 26, The Legal Protection of Software: Implications for Latecomer Strategies in Newly Industrialising Economies (NIEs) and Middle-Income Economies (MIEs), by Carlos Maria Correa, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 27, Specialization, Technical Change and Competitiveness in the Brazilian Electronics Industry, by Claudio R. Frischtak, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 28, Internationalization Strategies of Japanese Electronics Companies: Implications for Asian Newly Industrializing Economies (NIEs), by Bundo Yamada, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 29, The Status and an Evaluation of the Electronics Industry in Taiwan, by Gee San, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 30, The Indian Electronics Industry: Current Status, Perspectives and Policy Options, by Ghayur Alam, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 31, Comparative Advantage in Agriculture in Ghana, by James Pickett and E. Shaeeldin, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 32, Debt Overhang, Liquidity Constraints and Adjustment Incentives, by Bert Hofman and Helmut Reisen, October 1990.

Working Paper No. 34, *Biotechnology and Developing Country Agriculture: Maize in Indonesia*, by Hidjat Nataatmadja *et al.*, January 1991. Working Paper No. 35, *Changing Comparative Advantage in Thai Agriculture*, by Ammar Siamwalla, Suthad Setboonsarng and Prasong Werakarnjanapongs, March 1991.

Working Paper No. 36, Capital Flows and the External Financing of Turkey's Imports, by Ziya Önis and Süleyman Özmucur, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 37, The External Financing of Indonesia's Imports, by Glenn P. Jenkins and Henry B.F. Lim, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 38, Long-term Capital Reflow under Macroeconomic Stabilization in Latin America, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 39, Buybacks of LDC Debt and the Scope for Forgiveness, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 40, Measuring and Modelling Non-Tariff Distortions with Special Reference to Trade in Agricultural Commodities, by Peter J. Lloyd, July 1991.

Working Paper No. 41, The Changing Nature of IMF Conditionality, by Jacques J. Polak, August 1991.

Working Paper No. 42, *Time-Varying Estimates on the Openness of the Capital Account in Korea and Taiwan*, by Helmut Reisen and Hélène Yèches, August 1991.

Working Paper No. 43, Toward a Concept of Development Agreements, by F. Gerard Adams, August 1991.

Document de travail No. 44, Le Partage du fardeau entre les créanciers de pays débiteurs défaillants, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy et Ann Vourc'h, septembre 1991.

Working Paper No. 45, The External Financing of Thailand's Imports, by Supote Chunanunthathum, October 1991.

Working Paper No. 46, *The External Financing of Brazilian Imports*, by Enrico Colombatto, with Elisa Luciano, Luca Gargiulo, Pietro Garibaldi and Giuseppe Russo, October 1991.

Working Paper No. 47, Scenarios for the World Trading System and their Implications for Developing Countries, by Robert Z. Lawrence, November 1991.

Working Paper No. 48, Trade Policies in a Global Context: Technical Specifications of the Rural/Urban-North/South (RUNS) Applied General Equilibrium Model, by Jean-Marc Burniaux and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, November 1991.

Working Paper No. 49, Macro-Micro Linkages: Structural Adjustment and Fertilizer Policy in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Jean-Marc Fontaine with the collaboration of Alice Sindzingre, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 50, Aggregation by Industry in General Equilibrium Models with International Trade, by Peter J. Lloyd, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 51, Policy and Entrepreneurial Responses to the Montreal Protocol: Some Evidence from the Dynamic Asian Economies, by David C. O'Connor, December 1991.

Working Paper No. 52, On the Pricing of LDC Debt: an Analysis Based on Historical Evidence from Latin America, by Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 53, Economic Regionalisation and Intra-Industry Trade: Pacific-Asian Perspectives, by Kiichiro Fukasaku, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 54, Debt Conversions in Yugoslavia, by Mojmir Mrak, February 1992.

Working Paper No. 55, Evaluation of Nigeria's Debt-Relief Experience (1985-1990), by N.E. Ogbe, March 1992.

Document de travail No. 56, L'Expérience de l'allégement de la dette du Mali, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy, février 1992.

Working Paper No. 57, Conflict or Indifference: US Multinationals in a World of Regional Trading Blocs, by Louis T. Wells, Jr., March 1992.

Working Paper No. 58, Japan's Rapidly Emerging Strategy Toward Asia, by Edward J. Lincoln, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 59, The Political Economy of Stabilization Programmes in Developing Countries, by Bruno S. Frey and Reiner Eichenberger, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 60, Some Implications of Europe 1992 for Developing Countries, by Sheila Page, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 61, Taiwanese Corporations in Globalisation and Regionalisation, by Gee San, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 62, Lessons from the Family Planning Experience for Community-Based Environmental Education, by Winifred Weekes-Vagliani, April 1992.

Working Paper No. 63, Mexican Agriculture in the Free Trade Agreement: Transition Problems in Economic Reform, by Santiago Levy and Sweder van Wijnbergen, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 64, Offensive and Defensive Responses by European Multinationals to a World of Trade Blocs, by John M. Stopford, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 65, Economic Integration in the Pacific Region, by Richard Drobnick, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 66, Latin America in a Changing Global Environment, by Winston Fritsch, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 67, An Assessment of the Brady Plan Agreements, by Jean-Claude Berthélemy and Robert Lensink, May 1992.

Working Paper No. 68, The Impact of Economic Reform on the Performance of the Seed Sector in Eastern and Southern Africa, by Elizabeth Cromwell, June 1992.

Working Paper No. 69, Impact of Structural Adjustment and Adoption of Technology on Competitiveness of Major Cocoa Producing Countries, by Emily M. Bloomfield and R. Antony Lass, June 1992.

Working Paper No. 70, Structural Adjustment and Moroccan Agriculture: an Assessment of the Reforms in the Sugar and Cereal Sectors, by Jonathan Kydd and Sophie Thoyer, June 1992.

Document de travail No. 71, L'Allégement de la dette au Club de Paris : les évolutions récentes en perspective, par Ann Vourc'h, juin 1992.

Working Paper No. 72, Biotechnology and the Changing Public/Private Sector Balance: Developments in Rice and Cocoa, by Carliene Brenner, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 73, Namibian Agriculture: Policies and Prospects, by Walter Elkan, Peter Amutenya, Jochbeth Andima, Robin Sherbourne and Eline van der Linden, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 74, Agriculture and the Policy Environment: Zambia and Zimbabwe, by Doris J. Jansen and Andrew Rukovo, July 1992.

Working Paper No. 75, Agricultural Productivity and Economic Policies: Concepts and Measurements, by Yair Mundlak, August 1992.

Working Paper No. 76, Structural Adjustment and the Institutional Dimensions of Agricultural Research and Development in Brazil: Soybeans, Wheat and Sugar Cane, by John Wilkinson and Bernardo Sorj, August 1992.

Working Paper No. 77, The Impact of Laws and Regulations on Micro and Small Enterprises in Niger and Swaziland, by Isabelle Journard, Carl Liedholm and Donald Mead, September 1992.

Working Paper No. 78, Co-Financing Transactions between Multilateral Institutions and International Banks, by Michel Bouchet and Amit Ghose, October 1992.

Document de travail No. 79, Allégement de la dette et croissance : le cas mexicain, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy et Ann Vourc'h, octobre 1992.

Document de travail No. 80, Le Secteur informel en Tunisie : cadre réglementaire et pratique courante, par Abderrahman Ben Zakour et Farouk Kria, novembre 1992.

Working Paper No. 81, Small-Scale Industries and Institutional Framework in Thailand, by Naruemol Bunjongjit and Xavier Oudin, November 1992.

Working Paper No. 81a, Statistical Annex: Small-Scale Industries and Institutional Framework in Thailand, by Naruemol Bunjongjit and Xavier Oudin, November 1992.

Document de travail No. 82, L'Expérience de l'allégement de la dette du Niger, par Ann Vourc'h et Maina Boukar Moussa, novembre 1992.

Working Paper No. 83, Stabilization and Structural Adjustment in Indonesia: an Intertemporal General Equilibrium Analysis, by David Roland-Holst, November 1992.

Working Paper No. 84, Striving for International Competitiveness: Lessons from Electronics for Developing Countries, by Jan Maarten de Vet, March 1993.

Document de travail No. 85, Micro-entreprises et cadre institutionnel en Algérie, par Hocine Benissad, mars 1993.

Working Paper No. 86, Informal Sector and Regulations in Ecuador and Jamaica, by Emilio Klein and Victor E. Tokman, August 1993.

Working Paper No. 87, Alternative Explanations of the Trade-Output Correlation in the East Asian Economies, by Colin I. Bradford Jr. and Naomi Chakwin, August 1993.

Document de travail No. 88, La Faisabilité politique de l'ajustement dans les pays africains, par Christian Morrisson, Jean-Dominique Lafay et Sébastien Dessus, novembre 1993.

Working Paper No. 89, China as a Leading Pacific Economy, by Kiichiro Fukasaku and Mingyuan Wu, November 1993.

Working Paper No. 90, A Detailed Input-Output Table for Morocco, 1990, by Maurizio Bussolo and David Roland-Holst November 1993.

Working Paper No. 91, International Trade and the Transfer of Environmental Costs and Benefits, by Hiro Lee and David Roland-Holst, December 1993.

Working Paper No. 92, Economic Instruments in Environmental Policy: Lessons from the OECD Experience and their Relevance to Developing Economies, by Jean-Philippe Barde, January 1994.

Working Paper No. 93, What Can Developing Countries Learn from OECD Labour Market Programmes and Policies?, by Åsa Sohlman with David Turnham, January 1994.

Working Paper No. 94, Trade Liberalization and Employment Linkages in the Pacific Basin, by Hiro Lee and David Roland-Holst, February 1994.

Working Paper No. 95, Participatory Development and Gender: Articulating Concepts and Cases, by Winifred Weekes-Vagliani, February 1994.

Document de travail No. 96, Promouvoir la maîtrise locale et régionale du développement : une démarche participative à Madagascar, par Philippe de Rham et Bernard Lecomte, juin 1994.

Working Paper No. 97, The OECD Green Model: an Updated Overview, by Hiro Lee, Joaquim Oliveira-Martins and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, August 1994.

Working Paper No. 98, Pension Funds, Capital Controls and Macroeconomic Stability, by Helmut Reisen and John Williamson, August 1994.

Working Paper No. 99, Trade and Pollution Linkages: Piecemeal Reform and Optimal Intervention, by John Beghin, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 100, International Initiatives in Biotechnology for Developing Country Agriculture: Promises and Problems, by Carliene Brenner and John Komen, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 101, Input-based Pollution Estimates for Environmental Assessment in Developing Countries, by Sébastien Dessus, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, October 1994.

Working Paper No. 102, Transitional Problems from Reform to Growth: Safety Nets and Financial Efficiency in the Adjusting Egyptian Economy, by Mahmoud Abdel-Fadil, December 1994.

Working Paper No. 103, Biotechnology and Sustainable Agriculture: Lessons from India, by Ghayur Alam, December 1994.

Working Paper No. 104, Crop Biotechnology and Sustainability: a Case Study of Colombia, by Luis R. Sanint, January 1995.

Working Paper No. 105, Biotechnology and Sustainable Agriculture: the Case of Mexico, by José Luis Solleiro Rebolledo, January 1995.

Working Paper No. 106, Empirical Specifications for a General Equilibrium Analysis of Labor Market Policies and Adjustments, by Andréa Maechler and David Roland-Holst, May 1995.

Document de travail No. 107, Les Migrants, partenaires de la coopération internationale : le cas des Maliens de France, par Christophe Daum, juillet 1995.

Document de travail No. 108, Ouverture et croissance industrielle en Chine : étude empirique sur un échantillon de villes, par Sylvie Démurger, septembre 1995.

Working Paper No. 109, Biotechnology and Sustainable Crop Production in Zimbabwe, by John J. Woodend, December 1995.

Document de travail No. 110, Politiques de l'environnement et libéralisation des échanges au Costa Rica : une vue d'ensemble, par Sébastien Dessus et Maurizio Bussolo, février 1996.

Working Paper No. 111, Grow Now/Clean Later, or the Pursuit of Sustainable Development?, by David O'Connor, March 1996.

Working Paper No. 112, Economic Transition and Trade-Policy Reform: Lessons from China, by Kiichiro Fukasaku and Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, July 1996.

Working Paper No. 113, Chinese Outward Investment in Hong Kong: Trends, Prospects and Policy Implications, by Yun-Wing Sung, July 1996.

Working Paper No. 114, Vertical Intra-industry Trade between China and OECD Countries, by Lisbeth Hellvin, July 1996.

Document de travail No. 115, Le Rôle du capital public dans la croissance des pays en développement au cours des années 80, par Sébastien Dessus et Rémy Herrera, juillet 1996.

Working Paper No. 116, General Equilibrium Modelling of Trade and the Environment, by John Beghin, Sébastien Dessus, David Roland-Holst and Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, September 1996.

Working Paper No. 117, Labour Market Aspects of State Enterprise Reform in Viet Nam, by David O'Connor, September 1996.

Document de travail No. 118, Croissance et compétitivité de l'industrie manufacturière au Sénégal, par Thierry Latreille et Aristomène Varoudakis, octobre 1996.

Working Paper No. 119, Evidence on Trade and Wages in the Developing World, by Donald J. Robbins, December 1996.

Working Paper No. 120, Liberalising Foreign Investments by Pension Funds: Positive and Normative Aspects, by Helmut Reisen, January 1997.

Document de travail No. 121, Capital Humain, ouverture extérieure et croissance : estimation sur données de panel d'un modèle à coefficients variables, par Jean-Claude Berthélemy, Sébastien Dessus et Aristomène Varoudakis, janvier 1997.

Working Paper No. 122, Corruption: The Issues, by Andrew W. Goudie and David Stasavage, January 1997.

Working Paper No. 123, Outflows of Capital from China, by David Wall, March 1997.

Working Paper No. 124, Emerging Market Risk and Sovereign Credit Ratings, by Guillermo Larraín, Helmut Reisen and Julia von Maltzan, April 1997.

Working Paper No. 125, Urban Credit Co-operatives in China, by Eric Girardin and Xie Ping, August 1997.

Working Paper No. 126, Fiscal Alternatives of Moving from Unfunded to Funded Pensions, by Robert Holzmann, August 1997.

Working Paper No. 127, Trade Strategies for the Southern Mediterranean, by Peter A. Petri, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 128, The Case of Missing Foreign Investment in the Southern Mediterranean, by Peter A. Petri, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 129, Economic Reform in Egypt in a Changing Global Economy, by Joseph Licari, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 130, Do Funded Pensions Contribute to Higher Aggregate Savings? A Cross-Country Analysis, by Jeanine Bailliu and Helmut Reisen, December 1997.

Working Paper No. 131, Long-run Growth Trends and Convergence Across Indian States, by Rayaprolu Nagaraj, Aristomène Varoudakis and Marie-Ange Véganzonès, January 1998.

Working Paper No. 132, Sustainable and Excessive Current Account Deficits, by Helmut Reisen, February 1998.

Working Paper No. 133, Intellectual Property Rights and Technology Transfer in Developing Country Agriculture: Rhetoric and Reality, by Carliene Brenner, March 1998.

Working Paper No. 134, Exchange-rate Management and Manufactured Exports in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Khalid Sekkat and Aristomène Varoudakis, March 1998.

Working Paper No. 135, Trade Integration with Europe, Export Diversification and Economic Growth in Egypt, by Sébastien Dessus and Akiko Suwa-Eisenmann, June 1998.

Working Paper No. 136, Domestic Causes of Currency Crises: Policy Lessons for Crisis Avoidance, by Helmut Reisen, June 1998.

Working Paper No. 137, A Simulation Model of Global Pension Investment, by Landis MacKellar and Helmut Reisen, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 138, Determinants of Customs Fraud and Corruption: Evidence from Two African Countries, by David Stasavage and Cécile Daubrée, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 139, State Infrastructure and Productive Performance in Indian Manufacturing, by Arup Mitra, Aristomène Varoudakis and Marie-Ange Véganzonès, August 1998.

Working Paper No. 140, Rural Industrial Development in Viet Nam and China: A Study in Contrasts, by David O'Connor, September 1998.

Working Paper No. 141, Labour Market Aspects of State Enterprise Reform in China, by Fan Gang, Maria Rosa Lunati and David O'Connor, October 1998.

Working Paper No. 142, Fighting Extreme Poverty in Brazil: The Influence of Citizens' Action on Government Policies, by Fernanda Lopes de Carvalho, November 1998.

Working Paper No. 143, How Bad Governance Impedes Poverty Alleviation in Bangladesh, by Rehman Sobhan, November 1998.

Document de travail No. 144, La libéralisation de l'agriculture tunisienne et l'Union européenne: une vue prospective, par Mohamed Abdelbasset Chemingui et Sébastien Dessus, février 1999.

Working Paper No. 145, *Economic Policy Reform and Growth Prospects in Emerging African Economies*, by Patrick Guillaumont, Sylviane Guillaumont Jeanneney and Aristomène Varoudakis, March 1999.

Working Paper No. 146, Structural Policies for International Competitiveness in Manufacturing: The Case of Cameroon, by Ludvig Söderling, March 1999.

Working Paper No. 147, China's Unfinished Open-Economy Reforms: Liberalisation of Services, by Kiichiro Fukasaku, Yu Ma and Qiumei Yang, April 1999.

Working Paper No. 148, Boom and Bust and Sovereign Ratings, by Helmut Reisen and Julia von Maltzan, June 1999.

Working Paper No. 149, Economic Opening and the Demand for Skills in Developing Countries: A Review of Theory and Evidence, by David O'Connor and Maria Rosa Lunati, June 1999.

Working Paper No. 150, The Role of Capital Accumulation, Adjustment and Structural Change for Economic Take-off: Empirical Evidence from African Growth Episodes, by Jean-Claude Berthélemy and Ludvig Söderling, July 1999.

Working Paper No. 151, Gender, Human Capital and Growth: Evidence from Six Latin American Countries, by Donald J. Robbins, September 1999.

Working Paper No. 152, The Politics and Economics of Transition to an Open Market Economy in Viet Nam, by James Riedel and William S. Turley, September 1999.

Working Paper No. 153, The Economics and Politics of Transition to an Open Market Economy: China, by Wing Thye Woo, October 1999.

Working Paper No. 154, Infrastructure Development and Regulatory Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of Air Transport, by Andrea E. Goldstein, October 1999.

Working Paper No. 155, The Economics and Politics of Transition to an Open Market Economy: India, by Ashok V. Desai, October 1999.

Working Paper No. 156, Climate Policy Without Tears: CGE-Based Ancillary Benefits Estimates for Chile, by Sébastien Dessus and David O'Connor, November 1999.

Document de travail No. 157, Dépenses d'éducation, qualité de l'éducation et pauvreté : l'exemple de cinq pays d'Afrique francophone, par Katharina Michaelowa, avril 2000.

Document de travail No. 158, Une estimation de la pauvreté en Afrique subsaharienne d'après les données anthropométriques, par Christian Morrisson, Hélène Guilmeau et Charles Linskens, mai 2000.

Working Paper No. 159, Converging European Transitions, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, July 2000.

Working Paper No. 160, Capital Flows and Growth in Developing Countries: Recent Empirical Evidence, by Marcelo Soto, July 2000.

Working Paper No. 161, Global Capital Flows and the Environment in the 21st Century, by David O'Connor, July 2000.

Working Paper No. 162, Financial Crises and International Architecture: A "Eurocentric" Perspective, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, August 2000.

Document de travail No. 163, Résoudre le problème de la dette : de l'initiative PPTE à Cologne, par Anne Joseph, août 2000.

Working Paper No. 164, E-Commerce for Development: Prospects and Policy Issues, by Andrea Goldstein and David O'Connor, September 2000.

Working Paper No. 165, Negative Alchemy? Corruption and Composition of Capital Flows, by Shang-Jin Wei, October 2000.

Working Paper No. 166, The HIPC Initiative: True and False Promises, by Daniel Cohen, October 2000.

Document de travail No. 167, Les facteurs explicatifs de la malnutrition en Afrique subsaharienne, par Christian Morrisson et Charles Linskens, octobre 2000.

Working Paper No. 168, Human Capital and Growth: A Synthesis Report, by Christopher A. Pissarides, November 2000.

Working Paper No. 169, Obstacles to Expanding Intra-African Trade, by Roberto Longo and Khalid Sekkat, March 2001.

Working Paper No. 170, Regional Integration In West Africa, by Ernest Aryeetey, March 2001.

Working Paper No. 171, Regional Integration Experience in the Eastern African Region, by Andrea Goldstein and Njuguna S. Ndung'u, March 2001.

Working Paper No. 172, Integration and Co-operation in Southern Africa, by Carolyn Jenkins, March 2001.

Working Paper No. 173, FDI in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Ludger Odenthal, March 2001

Document de travail No. 174, La réforme des télécommunications en Afrique subsaharienne, par Patrick Plane, mars 2001.

Working Paper No. 175, Fighting Corruption in Customs Administration: What Can We Learn from Recent Experiences?, by Irène Hors; April 2001.

Working Paper No. 176, Globalisation and Transformation: Illusions and Reality, by Grzegorz W. Kolodko, May 2001.

Working Paper No. 177, External Solvency, Dollarisation and Investment Grade: Towards a Virtuous Circle?, by Martin Grandes, June 2001. Document de travail No. 178, Congo 1965-1999: Les espoirs déçus du « Brésil africain », par Joseph Maton avec Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, septembre 2001.

Working Paper No. 179, Growth and Human Capital: Good Data, Good Results, by Daniel Cohen and Marcelo Soto, September 2001.

Working Paper No. 180, Corporate Governance and National Development, by Charles P. Oman, October 2001.

Working Paper No. 181, *How Globalisation Improves Governance*, by Federico Bonaglia, Jorge Braga de Macedo and Maurizio Bussolo, November 2001.

Working Paper No. 182, Clearing the Air in India: The Economics of Climate Policy with Ancillary Benefits, by Maurizio Bussolo and David O'Connor, November 2001.

Working Paper No. 183, Globalisation, Poverty and Inequality in sub-Saharan Africa: A Political Economy Appraisal, by Yvonne M. Tsikata, December 2001.

Working Paper No. 184, Distribution and Growth in Latin America in an Era of Structural Reform: The Impact of Globalisation, by Samuel A. Morley, December 2001.

Working Paper No. 185, Globalisation, Liberalisation, Poverty and Income Inequality in Southeast Asia, by K.S. Jomo, December 2001.

Working Paper No. 186, *Globalisation, Growth and Income Inequality: The African Experience*, by Steve Kayizzi-Mugerwa, December 2001. Working Paper No. 187, *The Social Impact of Globalisation in Southeast Asia*, by Mari Pangestu, December 2001.

Working Paper No. 188, Where Does Inequality Come From? Ideas and Implications for Latin America, by James A. Robinson, December 2001.

Working Paper No. 189, Policies and Institutions for E-Commerce Readiness: What Can Developing Countries Learn from OECD Experience?, by Paulo Bastos Tigre and David O'Connor, April 2002.

Document de travail No. 190, La réforme du secteur financier en Afrique, par Anne Joseph, juillet 2002.

Working Paper No. 191, Virtuous Circles? Human Capital Formation, Economic Development and the Multinational Enterprise, by Ethan B. Kapstein, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 192, Skill Upgrading in Developing Countries: Has Inward Foreign Direct Investment Played a Role?, by Matthew J. Slaughter, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 193, Government Policies for Inward Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries: Implications for Human Capital Formation and Income Inequality, by Dirk Willem te Velde, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 194, Foreign Direct Investment and Intellectual Capital Formation in Southeast Asia, by Bryan K. Ritchie, August 2002. Working Paper No. 195, FDI and Human Capital: A Research Agenda, by Magnus Blomström and Ari Kokko, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 196, Knowledge Diffusion from Multinational Enterprises: The Role of Domestic and Foreign Knowledge-Enhancing Activities, by Yasuyuki Todo and Koji Miyamoto, August 2002.

Working Paper No. 197, Why Are Some Countries So Poor? Another Look at the Evidence and a Message of Hope, by Daniel Cohen and Marcelo Soto, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 198, Choice of an Exchange-Rate Arrangement, Institutional Setting and Inflation: Empirical Evidence from Latin America, by Andreas Freytag, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 199, Will Basel II Affect International Capital Flows to Emerging Markets?, by Beatrice Weder and Michael Wedow, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 200, Convergence and Divergence of Sovereign Bond Spreads: Lessons from Latin America, by Martin Grandes, October 2002.

Working Paper No. 201, Prospects for Emerging-Market Flows amid Investor Concerns about Corporate Governance, by Helmut Reisen, November 2002.

Working Paper No. 202, Rediscovering Education in Growth Regressions, by Marcelo Soto, November 2002.

Working Paper No. 203, Incentive Bidding for Mobile Investment: Economic Consequences and Potential Responses, by Andrew Charlton, January 2003.

Working Paper No. 204, Health Insurance for the Poor? Determinants of participation Community-Based Health Insurance Schemes in Rural Senegal, by Johannes Jütting, January 2003.

Working Paper No. 205, China's Software Industry and its Implications for India, by Ted Tschang, February 2003.

Working Paper No. 206, Agricultural and Human Health Impacts of Climate Policy in China: A General Equilibrium Analysis with Special Reference to Guangdong, by David O'Connor, Fan Zhai, Kristin Aunan, Terje Berntsen and Haakon Vennemo, March 2003.

Working Paper No. 207, India's Information Technology Sector: What Contribution to Broader Economic Development?, by Nirvikar Singh, March 2003.

Working Paper No. 208, Public Procurement: Lessons from Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda, by Walter Odhiambo and Paul Kamau, March 2003.

Working Paper No. 209, Export Diversification in Low-Income Countries: An International Challenge after Doha, by Federico Bonaglia and Kiichiro Fukasaku, June 2003.

Working Paper No. 210, Institutions and Development: A Critical Review, by Johannes Jütting, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 211, Human Capital Formation and Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries, by Koji Miyamoto, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 212, Central Asia since 1991: The Experience of the New Independent States, by Richard Pomfret, July 2003.

Working Paper No. 213, A Multi-Region Social Accounting Matrix (1995) and Regional Environmental General Equilibrium Model for India (REGEMI), by Maurizio Bussolo, Mohamed Chemingui and David O'Connor, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 214, Ratings Since the Asian Crisis, by Helmut Reisen, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 215, Development Redux: Reflections for a New Paradigm, by Jorge Braga de Macedo, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 216, The Political Economy of Regulatory Reform: Telecoms in the Southern Mediterranean, by Andrea Goldstein, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 217, The Impact of Education on Fertility and Child Mortality: Do Fathers Really Matter Less than Mothers?, by Lucia Breierova and Esther Duflo, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 218, Float in Order to Fix? Lessons from Emerging Markets for EU Accession Countries, by Jorge Braga de Macedo and Helmut Reisen, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 219, *Globalisation in Developing Countries: The Role of Transaction Costs in Explaining Economic Performance in India*, by Maurizio Bussolo and John Whalley, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 220, Poverty Reduction Strategies in a Budget-Constrained Economy: The Case of Ghana, by Maurizio Bussolo and Jeffery I. Round, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 221, Public-Private Partnerships in Development: Three Applications in Timor Leste, by José Braz, November 2003. Working Paper No. 222, Public Opinion Research, Global Education and Development Co-operation Reform: In Search of a Virtuous Circle, by Ida Mc Donnell, Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte and Liam Wegimont, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 223, Building Capacity to Trade: What Are the Priorities?, by Henry-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, November 2003. Working Paper No. 224, Of Flying Geeks and O-Rings: Locating Software and IT Services in India's Economic Development, by David O'Connor, November 2003.

Document de travail No. 225, Cap Vert: Gouvernance et Développement, par Jaime Lourenço and Colm Foy, novembre 2003.

Working Paper No. 226, Globalisation and Poverty Changes in Colombia, by Maurizio Bussolo and Jann Lay, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 227, The Composite Indicator of Economic Activity in Mozambique (ICAE): Filling in the Knowledge Gaps to Enhance Public-Private Partnership (PPP), by Roberto J. Tibana, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 228, Economic-Reconstruction in Post-Conflict Transitions: Lessons for the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), by Graciana del Castillo, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 229, Providing Low-Cost Information Technology Access to Rural Communities In Developing Countries: What Works? What Pays? by Georg Caspary and David O'Connor, November 2003.

Working Paper No. 230, The Currency Premium and Local-Currency Denominated Debt Costs in South Africa, by Martin Grandes, Marcel Peter and Nicolas Pinaud, December 2003.

Working Paper No. 231, Macroeconomic Convergence in Southern Africa: The Rand Zone Experience, by Martin Grandes, December 2003.

Working Paper No. 232, Financing Global and Regional Public Goods through ODA: Analysis and Evidence from the OECD Creditor Reporting System, by Helmut Reisen, Marcelo Soto and Thomas Weithöner, January 2004.

Working Paper No. 233, Land, Violent Conflict and Development, by Nicolas Pons-Vignon and Henri-Bernard Solignac Lecomte, February 2004.

Working Paper No. 234, The Impact of Social Institutions on the Economic Role of Women in Developing Countries, by Christian Morrisson and Johannes Jütting, May 2004.

Document de travail No. 235, La condition desfemmes en Inde, Kenya, Soudan et Tunisie, par Christian Morrisson, août 2004.

Working Paper No. 236, Decentralisation and Poverty in Developing Countries: Exploring the Impact, by Johannes Jütting, Céline Kauffmann, Ida Mc Donnell, Holger Osterrieder, Nicolas Pinaud and Lucia Wegner, August 2004.

Working Paper No. 237, Natural Disasters and Adaptive Capacity, by Jeff Dayton-Johnson, August 2004.

Working Paper No. 238, *Public Opinion Polling and the Millennium Development Goals*, by Jude Fransman, Alphonse L. MacDonnald, Ida Mc Donnell and Nicolas Pons-Vignon, October 2004.

Working Paper No. 239, Overcoming Barriers to Competitiveness, by Orsetta Causa and Daniel Cohen, December 2004.

Working Paper No. 240, *Extending Insurance? Funeral Associations in Ethiopia and Tanzania*, by Stefan Dercon, Tessa Bold, Joachim De Weerdt and Alula Pankhurst, December 2004.

Working Paper No. 241, Macroeconomic Policies: New Issues of Interdependence, by Helmut Reisen, Martin Grandes and Nicolas Pinaud, January 2005.

Working Paper No. 242, Institutional Change and its Impact on the Poor and Excluded: The Indian Decentralisation Experience, by D. Narayana, January 2005.

Working Paper No. 243, Impact of Changes in Social Institutions on Income Inequality in China, by Hiroko Uchimura, May 2005.

Working Paper No. 244, Priorities in Global Assistance for Health, AIDS and Population (HAP), by Landis MacKellar, June 2005.

Working Paper No. 245, Trade and Structural Adjustment Policies in Selected Developing Countries, by Jens Andersson, Federico Bonaglia, Kiichiro Fukasaku and Caroline Lesser, July 2005.

Working Paper No. 246, Economic Growth and Poverty Reduction: Measurement and Policy Issues, by Stephan Klasen, (September 2005). Working Paper No. 247, Measuring Gender (In)Equality: Introducing the Gender, Institutions and Development Data Base (GID),

by Johannes P. Jütting, Christian Morrisson, Jeff Dayton-Johnson and Denis Drechsler (March 2006).

Working Paper No. 248, Institutional Bottlenecks for Agricultural Development: A Stock-Taking Exercise Based on Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa by Juan R. de Laiglesia, March 2006.

Working Paper No. 249, Migration Policy and its Interactions with Aid, Trade and Foreign Direct Investment Policies: A Background Paper, by Theodora Xenogiani, June 2006.

Working Paper No. 250, Effects of Migration on Sending Countries: What Do We Know? by Louka T. Katseli, Robert E.B. Lucas and Theodora Xenogiani, June 2006.

Document de travail No. 251, L'aide au développement et les autres flux nord-sud : complémentarité ou substitution ?, par Denis Cogneau et Sylvie Lambert, juin 2006.

Working Paper No. 252, Angel or Devil? China's Trade Impact on Latin American Emerging Markets, by Jorge Blázquez-Lidoy, Javier Rodríguez and Javier Santiso, June 2006.

Working Paper No. 253, Policy Coherence for Development: A Background Paper on Foreign Direct Investment, by Thierry Mayer, July 2006. Working Paper No. 254, The Coherence of Trade Flows and Trade Policies with Aid and Investment Flows, by Akiko Suwa-Eisenmann and Thierry Verdier, August 2006.

Document de travail No. 255, Structures familiales, transferts et épargne : examen, par Christian Morrisson, août 2006.

Working Paper No. 256, Ulysses, the Sirens and the Art of Navigation: Political and Technical Rationality in Latin America, by Javier Santiso and Laurence Whitehead, September 2006.

Working Paper No. 257, Developing Country Multinationals: South-South Investment Comes of Age, by Dilek Aykut and Andrea Goldstein, November 2006.